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Corporate Profile

PNE Industries Ltd has been listed on the SGX since May 2000.  Its core business comprises of the following 
two segments:

•	 Contract manufacturing segment – manufacturing of electronic controllers and other electrical and 
	 electronic products.

•	 Trading segment - manufacturing and trading of emergency lighting equipment and printing materials, 
	 primarily pre-sensitised plates.

Headquartered in Singapore, the Group has sales offices and/or manufacturing facilities located in Singapore, 
Malaysia, China and the Netherlands.  

The Group is committed to providing quality products and services to its customers. It has stringent controls 
in its manufacturing procedures to ensure the production of high quality reliable products. PNE has been 
awarded the ISO9001:2008, ISO14001:2004, ISO13485:2003, ISO/TS16949:2009  certification, as well as 
various quality awards by its customers over the years.

Content

01	 Chairman’s Statement

03	 Corporate Information

03	 Group Structure

04	 Products

05	 Board of Directors

06	 Key Management

07	 Corporate Governance Statement

13	 Directors’ Statement

17	 Independent Auditors’ Report to the members of PNE Industries Ltd

18	 Statements of Financial Position

19	 Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

20	 Statements of Changes in Equity

22	 Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

24	 Notes to Financial Statements

66	 Statistics of Shareholdings

68	 Notice of Annual General Meeting

71	 Proxy Form



PNE Industries Ltd Annual Report 2015 1

Chairman’s Statement

Dear shareholders 
I am pleased to deliver the annual report for 2015 on behalf of the Board of Directors. This features our 
results for the year, our challenges and our plans for the year ahead.  

The Year in Review
For the year ended September 30, 2015 (“FY15”), the Group recorded profit before tax from continuing 
operations of $11.3m on the back of revenue of $74.0m.  After deducting income tax expense and loss 
from discontinued operations, the Group ended the year with a profit of $7.2m, down $1.3m compared to 
last year.

Revenue rose by $1.8m or 2.5% to $74.0m in FY15 from $72.2m in FY14.  The increase in revenue was due 
mainly to higher sales recorded by the Trading segment, which saw more customer orders for the Group’s 
lighting products, while revenue from the Contract Manufacturing segment increased marginally.  Due to 
the higher revenue, the Group’s gross profit rose by $1.1m in FY15.

While gross profit increased, other operating income  declined $6.0m due mainly to the absence this year 
of a one-off $9.8m gain recorded in FY14 upon the disposal of part of the Group’s interest in its associate. 
However, FY15 saw a foreign exchange gain of $3.6m 
thanks mainly to the strengthening of the United States 
dollar during the year. In comparison, the Group incurred a 
$0.3m foreign exchange loss in FY14, recorded under other 
operating expense.

Distribution costs rose due to higher sales commission 
payouts.  Administrative expenses increased due in part to 
higher staff costs, which rose because of the tight labour 
market and an increase in minimum wages in Shenzhen. 

The Group recorded a profit from its share of results of 
associate this year, as opposed to a loss last year. For this 
year, the Group’s share of results of associate reflected the 
results of its only remaining associate, whereas last year, the loss was due to the Group’s share of the loss 
recorded by the Group’s other associate, up to the date of disposal of part of its interest in this associate.  
Subsequent to the disposal, the remaining interest held by the Group is reclassified as an available-for-sale 
investment, for which it recorded a $0.8m impairment loss this year. The impairment loss arose due to the 
severe weakening of the Malaysian Ringgit. 

In our annual report last year, we shared our plans to scale down our printing materials business in FY15 due 
to a highly challenging and competitive business environment for this business.  However, despite having 
scaled down this business, it continued to record losses thereafter. Thus, to stem the losses, the Group has 
decided to divest this business through the disposal of its interest in the main subsidiary through which 
the Group operates this business, as announced in November 2015.  As such, the results of this subsidiary 
had been presented as discontinued operations in FY15, with corresponding reclassifications made for 
FY14.  The lower loss from discontinued operations this year was due to the lower scale of operations, and 
lower impairment for plant and machinery as well as for doubtful debts and inventories.  Along with the 
presentation of the loss of this subsidiary as discontinued operations, the assets and liabilities associated 
with this subsidiary have also been reclassified as held-for-sale.

Higher cash generated from operations due to lower working capital requirements saw our cash and bank 
balances rise by $8.8m. This lower working capital requirement was due to lesser needs by the scaled-down 
printing materials business, and also to longer credit periods granted by suppliers. Lower inventories in line 
with the scaling down of the printing materials business also contributed to a reduction in our inventories.
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Chairman’s Statement

Sharing our Fruits
To comply with the SGX-ST’s minimum trading price rule, during the year, the Company consolidated its 
shares such that every four issued shares were consolidated into one share. For FY15, the Board is pleased 
to recommend a final one-tier tax exempt dividend of 2.0 cents per consolidated share. This is equivalent to 
the 0.5 cent per share recommended for FY14 prior to the share consolidation. The proposed final dividend 
is subject to the approval of the shareholders at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting. 

The Outlook Ahead
We remain committed to driving growth for the Group in spite of the challenges in the global arena and the 
highly competitive outlook in the industries that we are operating in. 

The European debt crisis has not seen much significant improvements, and this has prolonged the 
uncertainties and volatility in the economy. As such, demand for the Group’s products may be affected as 
we have a sizeable customer base within Europe.  Cost pressures have also been rising in Singapore, China 
and Malaysia, in which our operations are located. The unpredictability of customers’ orders and forecasts 
heightens the risks and uncertainties faced by the Group for any long-term planning. Stronger demands for 
lower prices by customers also increase the challenges being faced by the Group. 

As with previous years, the volatility of the USD remains a 
challenge for the Group in managing its foreign exchange 
risks as a sizable portion of its sales are denominated in 
USD. Any weakening of the USD may impact the Group if 
revenue is not matched by costs denominated in USD. 

As we move into the new financial year, the Group will remain 
vigilant and exercise tight control over our costs in view 
of the economic climate. We will also continuously identify 
and implement new measures to streamline operations and 
increase efficiency. Risk management continues to be a top 
priority, and we will monitor trade receivables closely to 
minimise risks of doubtful debts, as well as our inventory 
levels to lower risks of obsolete inventories. We will also continue to focus our efforts to secure new 
customers. 
 

Our Sincere Thanks
On behalf of the Board, I would like to thank you, our shareholders, as well as our customers and business 
associates for your continuous support to us.  I also take this opportunity to express our appreciation to our 
staff too for their dedication and hard work over the years.  

Tan Kong Heng
Chairman
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Group Structure

Corporate Information

Registered Office
996 Bendemeer Road #07-06
Singapore 339944
Tel: (65) 6291 0698
Fax: (65) 6295 8440
industries@pne.com.sg
www.pne.com.sg

Company Secretary
Tan Meng Siew

Share Registrar
Intertrust Singapore Corporate Services Pte Ltd
3 Anson Road #27-01
Springleaf Tower
Singapore 079909

Auditors
Deloitte & Touche LLP
Audit Partner, Lim Bee Hui 
(Appointed since FY 2013)
6 Shenton Way #33-00
OUE Downtown 2
Singapore 068809

PNE Appliance Controls Pte Ltd 
(Singapore)

100%

PNE Translite Pte Ltd 
(Singapore)

100%

PNE International Pte Ltd  
(Singapore)

100%

Wanxi Holdings Pte Ltd* 
(Singapore)

100%

PNE Electric Sdn Bhd 
(Malaysia)

100%

PNE Electronic Technology (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd 
(People’s Republic of China)

100%

PNE Print Technology Co., Ltd 
(People’s Republic of China)

100%

Wanli Company Enterprises Ltd 
(British Virgin Islands)

100%

Da Xi Enterprises Ltd
(British Virgin Islands)

100%

PNE Benelux B.V.
(The Netherlands)

50%

PNE Systems Sdn Bhd 
(Malaysia)

100%

* Incorporated after the financial year ended 30 September 2015.
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Products

The Company and its subsidiaries operate primarily in two business segments – contract manufacturing and 
trading.

The types of products sold under the contract manufacturing business include electronic controllers and 
other electrical and electronic products.   These products are made to customers’ specifications. 

The types of products sold under the trading business include emergency lighting equipment and printing 
materials, primarily pre-sensitised plates.  These products are made for the mass market.

Electronic controllers
Due to the demands of increasingly sophisticated consumers, the majority of electrical appliances are 
equipped with a number of intelligent features made possible by the use of microprocessors.  The Group 
manufactures electronic controllers incorporating such microprocessors. Electronic controllers are employed 
in the control of the operations of domestic and industrial electrical appliances such as vacuum cleaners, 
coffee-makers, irons, remote control, lighting products, infant-care products, grooming products, food 
processors,  valve controllers, shoe sterilizers, satellite communications, and automotive sensors.  

Emergency lighting equipment
Emergency lighting equipment is a type of lighting 
equipment that turns on or remains on when a power 
failure occurs.   “Exit” signs are self-lit signage installed in 
buildings to indicate to occupants the direction and location 
of emergency escape routes and/or exits.

Pre-sensitised plates
Pre-sensitised plates are also commonly known as 
lithographic plates or aluminium printing plates for offset 
lithographic printing.  They are used in a variety of paper 
printing applications (e.g., books, magazines, catalogs, 
business forms, newspapers, calendars and stamps, etc). 
 
Offset lithography is a method of printing in which the 
image and non-image areas occupy the same plane on the 
surface of a thin, metal lithographic plate on a large cylinder. 
The image and non-image areas are distributed chemically. 
The lithographic plate is prepared in such a way that the 
image area is rendered ink receptive and water repellant. 
A water-based “fountain solution”, which is applied to the 
lithographic plate, renders the non-image area receptive to 
water and non-receptive to ink.
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Board of Directors
All the Directors of the Company, excluding the independent directors, are siblings.

Mr Tan Kong Heng, Non-executive Chairman
First appointed on 25 September 1999.  Last re-appointed on 28 January 2015.
Mr Tan has been with the Group since its inception, and currently acts in an advisory role with respect 
to the formulation of the Group’s corporate strategies and expansion plans. He started his career in 
the electronics industry in 1970 when he joined a local printed circuit board manufacturer as a Material 
Manager.  Having more than 30 years of experience in the electronics manufacturing industry, Mr Tan has 
built up strong relationships with many industry players.  He is presently the non-executive Chairman of 
PNE Micron Holdings Ltd, which is listed on SGX-Catalist.  He was previously an executive director of PNE PCB 
Bhd, which is listed on the Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad in Malaysia.  

Mr Tan Koon Chwee, Executive Managing Director
First appointed on 25 September 1999.  Last re-elected on 28 January 2014.    
Mr Tan serves as the Chief Executive Officer of the Group and is the brother of Mr Tan Kong Heng.  He is 
responsible for formulating and implementing the Group’s corporate and business strategies and financial 
matters.  He also oversees the marketing function of the Group.  Mr Tan holds a Honours degree in the 
Bachelor of Science in Electrical and Electronic Engineering from the University of Strathclyde, Glasgow, 
Scotland.  He has also been registered as a Professional Engineer since 1985.

Mr Tan Kong Leong, Executive Director
First appointed on 4 May 2000.  Last re-elected on 28 January 2015.
Mr Tan assists the Managing Director in the management of the Group and in the budgeting of the costs of 
various projects.  He is also responsible for the information technology function of the Group.  In addition, 
he also oversees the material purchases.  He joined the Group as an electronic engineer in 1986.  He holds 
a degree in the Bachelor of Engineering (Electrical) from the Nanyang Technological University and a degree 
in the Master of Business Administration from the National University of Singapore.

Mr Tan Kwong Soon, Non-executive Director
First appointed on 4 May 2000.  Last re-elected on 29 January 2013.
Mr Tan is one of the founding members of the Group.  As such, he has in-depth knowledge and understanding 
of the Group’s business and thus, he currently acts in an advisory role in the accounting and financial matters 
of the Group.  He holds a Diploma in Accounting from the London Chamber of Commerce and Industry. 
He was previously an executive director of PNE Micron Holdings Ltd, which is listed on SGX-Catalist, and a 
non-executive director of PNE PCB Bhd, which is listed on the Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad in Malaysia.  

Mr Tung Chee Weng, Independent Director
First appointed on 4 May 2000.  Last re-elected on 28 January 2014.
Mr Tung was previously the General Manager of Centeonyx Pte Ltd.  Prior to this, he was the General 
Manager of Centillion Environment & Recycling (Singapore) Pte Ltd from 2004 - 2006 and was Director 
(Service Division) of Veolia Water Systems (S) Pte Ltd from 1998 - 2004.  From 1987-1998, he was with 
Seagate Technology International as a Director (Strategic Planning & Industrial Engineering).  Mr Tung had 
also worked in various other companies in the construction and engineering industries for 17 years.  He 
holds a Bachelor of Science (Mechanical Engineering) (Second Upper Class Honours) from the University of 
Strathclyde, Glasgow, Scotland.

Mr Tan Lee Khiang, Independent Director
First appointed on 4 May 2000.  Last re-elected on 28 January 2015.
Mr Tan is presently the director of TechnoMEC International Pte Ltd, TechnoMEC Resources Pte Ltd, 
Rockmans Enterprise Pte Ltd, Rockmans Resources Pte Ltd, AFS Sejahtera Pte Ltd, and Bramar Sejahtera 
Pte Ltd.  From 1989 to 1999, he was Senior Manager at Genisys Integrated Engineers Pte Ltd.  Prior to 
that, he worked in various engineering, manufacturing and construction firms for 10 years.  He had also 
acquired accounting and financial expertise from over 20 years of managing his own firm.  He graduated 
with a Bachelor of Science (First Class Honours) in Mechanical Engineering from the University of Strathclyde, 
Glasgow, Scotland and is a registered Professional Engineer in Singapore.

Mr Lim Meng Wee, Independent Director
First appointed on 1 June 2013.  Last re-elected on 28 January 2014.
Mr Lim has been the Managing Director of SP Consulting (International) Pte Ltd since 1993. Prior to this, he 
held various management positions in ECS Computers (Asia) Pte Ltd, Seagate Technology Singapore Pte Ltd 
as well as Data General Hong Kong Limited.  He has a diploma in electronics and communications engineering 
from the Singapore Polytechnic. He is a council member of the Singapore Manufacturing Federation. Mr Lim 
brings with him experience in organisation management and development in various industries, namely in 
the areas of business excellence, business continuity management, quality, environment and occupational 
health and safety.
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Key Management

Mr Chin Chew Khay
Director of PNE Systems Sdn Bhd
Mr Chin is responsible for the overall management of this subsidiary, which is involved in the marketing 
and sale of the Group’s lighting products and printing materials in Malaysia.  Mr Chin joined this subsidiary 
since its incorporation in 1993, and has more than 20 years’ experience in marketing and selling emergency 
lighting equipment.   

Ms Tan Bee Foon
Group Human Resource General Manager
Ms Tan has more than 10 years of human resource management and development experience in private 
sectors before joining the Company in 1999. Ms Tan is responsible for human resource management and 
general administration for the Group. She is involved in the formulation of the Group’s human resource 
policies and employee training or development activities. In addition, Ms Tan oversees all the administrative 
matters of the Group. She is responsible for strategizing and directing the implementation of group-wide 
human resource policies, programmes, environmental, health and safety matters for the Group. Ms Tan is 
the sister of all the directors except the independent directors.

Ms Tan Meng Siew 
Financial Controller and Company Secretary
Ms Tan was first appointed as financial controller in October 1999, and as company secretary in December 
2004.  She is responsible for the Group’s overall finance and accounting functions.  Ms Tan joined an 
international accounting firm in 1994 upon graduation and subsequently joined PNE PCB Pte Ltd in 1996.  
She is a member of the Institute of Singapore Chartered Accountants and holds the Bachelor of Accountancy 
(Second Class Upper Honours) from the Nanyang Technological University.  Ms Tan is the daughter of the 
Chairman of the Company and the niece of all the directors except the independent directors.
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Corporate Governance

PNE Industries Ltd is committed to good standards of corporate governance to protect the interests of its 
shareholders and maximize long-term shareholder value.  This report describes the Company’s corporate 
governance practices with specific reference to the Code of Corporate Governance (“Code”) issued in 2012 
in accordance to SGX’s listing rules.

Principle 1: The Board’s conduct of its affairs

The principal functions of the Board are to protect and enhance long-term shareholder value, establish the 
overall strategy for the Group, and to monitor the performance of management.  To assist in the execution 
of its responsibilities, the Board is supported by the Nominating Committee, the Remuneration Committee, 
and the Audit Committee.

The Board meets at least twice a year to consider and resolve major financial and business matters of the 
Group.  In between Board meetings, major matters concerning the Group are also put to the Board for its 
decision by way of circulating resolution-in-writing for the Directors’ approval.  Where necessary, informal 
meetings are held to deliberate on various issues.  Material transactions requiring board approval include 
material acquisitions or disposals of assets, investments or divestments, corporate or financial restructuring, 
declarations of dividends and other returns to shareholders, and transactions involving a conflict of interest 
for a substantial shareholder or a Director or interested person transactions.

The directors continuously update themselves to familiarise on new laws and regulations as well as changing 
commercial risks and developments in order to keep abreast of changes in the industry and general economic 
environment.  Attendance at external seminars and conferences are arranged for both existing and new 
directors as and when appropriate.  New directors joining the Company are also given an orientation by the 
Company’s Executive Directors and/or senior management to familiarize them with the Group.

During the last financial year ended September 30, 2015, two formal Board meetings were held.  All directors 
as well as the company secretary attended the meetings.  
  

Principle 2: Board composition and balance

The Board currently comprises of the following members:

	 Name		  Board	 Audit	 Nominating 	 Remuneration 	
				    Committee	 Committee	 Committee	
		
	 Tan Kong Heng (Chairman)	 Non-executive	 -	 Member	 Member
	 Tan Koon Chwee (Managing Director)	 Executive	 -	 -	 -
	 Tan Kong Leong	 Executive	 -	 -	 -
	 Tan Kwong Soon	 Non-executive	 Member	 -	 -
	 Tung Chee Weng	 Lead Independent	 Chairman	 Member	 Chairman
	 Tan Lee Khiang	 Independent	 Member	 Chairman	 Member
	 Lim Meng Wee	 Independent	 Member	 Member	 Member

The directors are qualified and experienced in various fields including engineering, manufacturing, and 
accountancy.  The Board is of the opinion that its current size and composition is appropriate given the 
scope and nature of the Group’s operations.   It will continuously review its size and composition to ensure 
that these remain appropriate in light of ever-changing environments.    
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Corporate Governance

Currently three out of the seven members of the Board are independent.  Of the three independent directors, 
Messrs Tung Chee Weng and Tan Lee Khiang have served as Board members for more than nine years.  
The Nominating Committee (“NC”) has conducted its annual review of the Directors’ independence and 
was satisfied that the Company has complied with the guidelines of the Code. In its deliberation as to the 
independence of Messrs. Tung Chee Weng and Tan Lee Khiang, the NC reviewed among others, their length 
of service, past contributions, their declarations of independence, and whether there are any relationships 
with the Company, its related corporations, substantial shareholders or its officers, or circumstances that 
may affect or appear to affect their independent judgement.  Based on this, the NC is satisfied that they 
have exercised independent judgement and character in the best interests of the Company in discharging 
their directors’ duties. Considering their experience and expertise, it is in the interests of the Company to 
retain them as directors instead of requiring them to step down by virtue of their years of service.  The Board 
concurs with the view of the NC.

Principle 3: Chairman and Managing Director

Mr Tan Kong Heng is the Chairman of the Board.  Mr Tan Koon Chwee is the Managing Director and Chief 
Executive Officer of the Company.  Mr Tan Kong Heng and Mr Tan Koon Chwee are brothers.  The roles 
of the Chairman and CEO are separated in order to increase accountability and enhance the ability of the 
Board for independent decision making.  Part of the duties of the Chairman includes the scheduling of Board 
meetings and setting the board meeting agenda in consultation with the Company’s Managing Director.  
The Chairman also assists to ensure compliance with the Company’s guidelines on corporate governance.

Principles 4 and 5: Board membership and performance

The Nominating Committee (“NC”) works in accordance with its written terms of reference duly adopted by 
the Board.  It is primarily responsible for reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board, and for 
assessing the effectiveness of the Board as a whole.  It also determines annually whether or not a director 
is independent and makes recommendations to the Board on re-nomination and re-election of directors.  
According to the Company’s Articles, one-third of the Directors retire from office at each AGM and submit 
themselves for re-election at regular intervals of at least once every three years.

In assessing the effectiveness of the Board as a whole, the NC carries out a formal process annually taking 
into consideration both quantitative and qualitative criteria.  Given the current size and composition of the 
Board, the NC is of the view that an assessment of the Board’s performance as a whole is reflective of the 
contribution of each individual director.  Thus, a formal assessment of the contribution of each individual 
director is currently not necessary. No maximum number of listed company board representations for board 
members have been set currently as the board members are able to manage their time and commitments.

The NC is also responsible for identifying and nominating candidates for the approval of the Board when the 
need for a new director is identified, whether to fill board vacancies as and when they arise, or to enhance 
the Board’s effectiveness and capabilities.  Potential candidates are identified from various sources, and may 
include suggestions by members of the Board or the Group’s professional advisors.  The NC also has the 
authority to engage recruitment consultants to assist it in the search and assessment process for potential 
candidates to join the Board.  The potential candidates will be evaluated based on various criteria, including 
amongst others, their experience, professional qualifications and personal attributes by the NC before the 
NC submits its recommendation to the Board for approval.  For re-election of incumbent directors, the NC 
will also consider, amongst others, the incumbent directors’ competencies, independence, participation, 
attendance and contributions.  A new director can be appointed to the Board via a board resolution, and will 
hold office until the first AGM held after his appointment, during which he will submit himself for re-election.

The NC held one meeting in the past year.  All members of the NC attended the meeting.
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Corporate Governance

Principle 6: Access to information

All members of the Board have separate and independent access to the Company’s senior management and 
company secretary at all times.  Should any of the directors require independent professional advice, such 
professionals will be hired at the Company’s expense.

Prior to the Board meetings, all Directors are provided with board papers so that the Directors have complete, 
adequate, and timely information to enable them to be adequately prepared for the meeting.  The company 
secretary attends all board meetings and will ensure that board procedures are complied with.

In addition to the board papers submitted to the directors for the board meeting, monthly management 
reports are submitted to each director to enable them to have timely information on the Group’s operations 
and financial performance.  

Principle 7: Remuneration policies

The Remuneration Committee (“RC”) works in accordance with its written terms of reference duly adopted by 
the Board.  It is primarily responsible for recommending to the Board the framework of remuneration for the 
Board and key executives.  It also determines specific remuneration packages for each executive director, 
including the terms of the service agreements of the executive directors, and reviews the remuneration of 
the key executives. 

None of the members of the RC specialize in the field of executive compensation.  However, they possess 
general knowledge in this area, and are supported by the Group’s General Manager of Personnel and 
Administration.  In addition, if required, external professional advice will be sought at the Company’s 
expense.

The RC held one meeting in the past year.  All members of the RC attended the meeting.

Principle 8: Level and mix of remuneration
Principle 9: Disclosure on remuneration

The Group endeavours to set a level of remuneration that is appropriate to attract, retain and motivate 
all directors and staff.  The remuneration generally includes a fixed as well as a variable component.  The 
variable component is determined based on the performance of both the individual employee as well as the 
performance of the Group. There is no contractual provision that allows the Group to reclaim remuneration 
from the directors or staff in exceptional circumstances of misstatement of financial results, or misconduct 
resulting in financial loss to the Group, as the remuneration package is moderate and not excessive.

The remuneration of directors of the Company for the financial year ended September 30, 2015 are as 
follows:

	 Name of director	 Base/fixed	 Variable or	 Fees	 Options granted	
			   salary 	 performance–related 
				    income/bonuses

	 $500,001 to $750,000 
	 Tan Koon Chwee	 68%	 28%	 4%	 Nil
	 Tan Kong Leong	 68%	 29%	 3%	 Nil

	 Nil to $250,000
	 Tan Kong Heng	 0%	 0%	 100%	 Nil
	 Tan Kwong Soon	 0%	 0%	 100%	 Nil
	 Tung Chee Weng	 0%	 0%	 100%	 Nil
	 Tan Lee Khiang	 0%	 0%	 100%	 Nil
	 Lim Meng Wee	 0%	 0%	 100%	 Nil
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Corporate Governance

Based on the current organization and reporting structure of the Group, it is more appropriate for three 
executives, who are not also directors of the Company, to be identified as the Group’s top key executives 
instead of five as required under the Code.  The names and profiles of these key executives of the Group 
are stated on page 6 of the annual report.  Given the sensitive nature of employee remuneration, and the 
possible pressures from both within and outside the Group upon disclosing such information, the Board has 
decided that detailed disclosure of each director’s and key executive’s remuneration is not in the interests 
of the Company.

The Company does not have any employee share scheme.

Principle 10: Accountability

The Board is accountable to the shareholders while the management is accountable to the Board.  When 
presenting the announcements for the interim and full year financial results to the shareholders, the Board 
aims to provide a balanced and understandable assessment of the Company’s performance, position and 
prospects.  Management assists by providing the members of the Board with management accounts of the 
Company on a monthly basis, as well as other information as and when necessary.    

Principle 11: Risk Management and Internal Controls

TThe Board acknowledges that risk is inherent in business and there are commercial risks to be taken in 
the course of generating a return on business activities.  The Board’s policy is that risks should be managed 
within the Group’s overall risk tolerance. The risk management functions are currently managed by the 
Audit Committee (“AC”).

The review of the Group’s system of internal controls is a concerted and continuing process, designed to 
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives. The Board acknowledges its 
responsibility for ensuring that there is a sound system of internal controls to safeguard the shareholders’ 
investments and Company’s assets.  

Based on the internal controls established and maintained by the Group, work performed by the internal and 
external auditors, and reviews performed by management, the Board, with the concurrence of the AC, is of 
the opinion that the Group’s internal controls addressing financial, operational, compliance and information 
technology controls, and risk management systems were adequate and effective as at September 30, 2015.   
The Board has also received assurance from the Managing Director and Financial Controller that the Group’s 
financial records have been properly maintained and the financial statements give a true and fair view of the 
Company’s operations and finances, and on the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal 
control systems.  However, it should be noted that no system of internal controls and risk management can 
provide absolute assurance against the occurrence of material errors, poor judgement, human error, losses, 
fraud or other irregularities.

The financial risks and management policies of the Group are laid out on pages 40 - 43 of the Annual Report.



PNE Industries Ltd Annual Report 2015 11

Corporate Governance

Principle 12: Audit Committee (“AC”)

The AC currently comprises three Indendent Directors and a Non-executive Director.  Of the members, Mr 
Tan Kwong Soon has formal accounting training and experience.  He and the other members of the AC 
have many years of experience in senior management positions and have sufficient financial management 
expertise to discharge the AC’s functions.

The AC works in accordance with its written terms of reference duly adopted by the Board.  Some of its 
primary responsibilities are as follows:
a.	 To review the audit plans and findings of the Company’s internal auditors, and their evaluation of the 
	 systems of internal controls arising from their audit
b.	 To review the financial statements of the Company and the consolidated financial statements of the 
	 Group before their submission to the Board of Directors and the external auditors’ report on those 
	 financial statements
c.	 To review half-yearly and full year results announcements of the Company before their submission to 
	 the Board of Directors
d.	 To review interested person transactions
e.	 To review annually the  independence and objectivity of the external auditors, taking into consideration 
	 the non-audit services provided to the Group
f.	 To ensure that a review of the effectiveness of the Group’s material internal controls is conducted at 
	 least annually
g.	 To review the co-operation and assistance given by the management to the Group’s external auditors
h.	 To review the re-appointment of the external auditors of the Group

The AC has full authority to investigate any matters within its terms of reference, and has full access to the 
management of the Company.  It also has full discretion to invite any director and executive officer to attend 
its meetings.  The external and internal auditors have unrestricted access to the AC.

The AC held two meetings during the past year.  All members of the AC attended the meetings.

Having reviewed the aggregate fees paid to the auditors, and a breakdown of the fees paid for audit and non-
audit services provided by the auditors, the AC is of the opinion that the independence of the auditors have 
not been affected by the provision of the non-audit services.  Further, it was noted that the appointment of 
the external auditors for the Company, its subsidiaries and associated companies are in compliance with 
Rules 712 and 715 of the SGX-ST Listing manual.  The AC recommended that Messrs Deloitte & Touche LLP 
be nominated for re-appointment as the external auditors at the forthcoming AGM.

The Company has a whistle-blowing policy in place for the Group to allow staff or any other persons to raise 
concerns about possible improprieties for such matters to be independently investigated without any fears 
of reprisals.

Principle 13: Internal audit

The Group has outsourced the internal audit function to an accounting firm, namely BDO LLP.  The internal 
auditors’ primary line of reporting is to the chairman of the AC.   Administratively, they report to the 
Managing Director of the Company, who is being assisted by the Financial Controller on this matter.

The AC annually reviews the adequacy of the internal audit function to ensure that the internal audit 
resources are adequate and that the internal audits are performed effectively.

The AC examines the internal audit plans, determines the scope of audit examination and approves the 
internal audit plan.
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Corporate Governance

Principle 14: Shareholder Rights
Principle 15: Communication with Shareholders
Principle 16: Conduct of Shareholder Meetings

Shareholders are kept informed of developments and performances of the Group regularly through timely 
announcements via SGXNET and the press (where appropriate) as well as the annual report.  

Active participation from shareholders at general meetings is welcomed by the Company.  To facilitate 
voting by shareholders, the Company’s articles allow shareholders to vote by proxies.  Proxy forms can be 
sent to the Company by mail.  During general meetings, each distinct issue is voted via separate resolutions.  
All directors of the Company, as well as the external auditors attend the Company’s general meetings to 
address any queries from shareholders.  Feedback can also be provided by shareholders via the Company’s 
website.

Listing Rule 1207(19) – Dealing in Securities

The Group has adopted the SGX’s Listing Rule 1207(19) with respect to dealings in securities for its internal 
compliance code.  The Group’s directors and officers are not allowed to deal in the Company’s securities 
during the period beginning one month prior to the announcement of the Company’s half year and full 
year results, and ending on the day of the announcement of the results, or while they are in possession of 
unpublished price-sensitive information.  Directors and officers are also discouraged from dealing in the 
Company’s securities on short-term consideration.

Interested Person Transactions

The Company has procedures to ensure that all transactions with interested persons are reported in a timely 
manner to the Audit Committee, and that the transactions are carried out on normal commercial terms 
and will not be prejudicial to the interests of the Company and its shareholders.  There were no interested 
persons transactions with amounts of $100,000 or more during the year ended September 30, 2015.  The 
Company does not have any shareholders’ mandate for interested persons transactions.

Material Contracts and Loans

Pursuant to Rule 1207(8) of the Listing Manual, the Company confirms that there were no material contracts 
and loans of the Company and its subsidiaries involving the interests of the controlling shareholder, either 
still subsisting at the end of the financial year or if not then subsisting, which were entered into since the 
end of the previous financial year.
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Directors’ Statement

The directors present their report together with the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group 
and statement of financial position and statement of changes in equity of the Company for the financial year 
ended September 30, 2015.

In the opinion of the directors, the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of 
financial position and statement of changes in equity of the Company as set out on pages 18 to 65 are 
drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and of the Company as 
at September 30, 2015, and the financial performance, changes in equity and cash flows of the Group and 
changes in equity of the Company for the financial year then ended and at the date of this statement, there 
are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts when they fall due.

1.	 DIRECTORS

	 The directors of the Company in office at the date of this report are:

	 Tan Kong Heng
	 Tan Koon Chwee
	 Tan Kong Leong
	 Tan Kwong Soon
	 Tung Chee Weng
	 Tan Lee Khiang
	 Lim Meng Wee

2.	 ARRANGEMENTS TO ENABLE DIRECTORS TO ACQUIRE BENEFITS BY MEANS OF THE 
	 ACQUISITION OF SHARES AND DEBENTURES

	 Neither at the end of the financial year nor at any time during the financial year did there subsist 
	 any arrangement whose object is to enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits 
	 by means of the acquisition of shares or debentures in the Company or any other body corporate.

3.	 DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND DEBENTURES

	 The directors of the Company holding office at the end of the financial year had no interests in the share 
	 capital and debentures of the Company and related corporations as recorded in the register of directors’ 
	 shareholdings kept by the Company under Section 164 of the Singapore Companies Act except as 
	 follows:

	 Names of directors and companies	 Shareholdings registered	
	 in which interests are held            	    in names of directors   	              
		  At beginning of year	 At end of year*	
	
	 PNE Industries Ltd
	 Ordinary shares
	 Tan Kong Heng	 35,316,400	 8,829,100
	 Tan Koon Chwee	 37,339,500	 9,334,875
	 Tan Kong Leong	 34,459,500	 8,614,875
	 Tan Kwong Soon	 18,839,000	 4,709,750
	 Tan Lee Khiang	 100,000	 25,000

	 * On August 6, 2015, a share consolidation exercise was completed such that every four issued shares 
	 were consolidated into one share. 

	 The directors’ interests in the shares of the Company as at October 21, 2015 were the same as at 
	 September 30, 2015.

for the financial year ended September 30, 2015
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Directors’ Statement
for the financial year ended September 30, 2015

4.	 OPTIONS TO TAKE UP UNISSUED SHARES

	 During the financial year, no options to take up unissued shares of the Company or any corporation in 
	 the Group were granted.

5.	 OPTIONS EXERCISED

	 During the financial year, there were no shares of the Company or any corporation in the Group issued 
	 by virtue of the exercise of an option to take up unissued shares.

6.	 UNISSUED SHARES UNDER OPTION

	 At the end of the financial year, there were no unissued shares of the Company or any corporation in 
	 the Group under options.
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Directors’ Statement
for the financial year ended September 30, 2015

7.	 AUDIT COMMITTEE

	 The Audit Committee carried out its functions in accordance with Section 201B of the Singapore 
	 Companies Act, Cap. 50, and the Singapore Exchange Listing Manual.

	 The Audit Committee of the Company is chaired by Mr Tung Chee Weng, an independent director, and 
	 includes Mr Tan Lee Khiang and Mr Lim Meng Wee, both are independent directors and Mr Tan Kwong 
	 Soon, a non-executive director.

	 The Audit Committee works in accordance with written terms of reference duly adopted by the Board. 
	 Some of its primary responsibilities are as follows:

	 (a)	 To review the audit plans and findings of the Company’s internal auditors, and their evaluation of 
		  the systems of internal controls arising from their audit;

	 (b)	 To review the statement of financial position and statement of changes in equity of the Company 
		  and the consolidated financial statements of the Group before their submission to the Board of 
		  Directors and the external auditors’ report on those financial statements;

	 (c)	 To review half-yearly and full-year results announcements of the Group and Company before their 
		  submission to the Board of Directors;

	 (d)	 To review interested person transactions;

	 (e)	 To review annually the independence and objectivity of the external auditors, taking into 
		  consideration the non-audit services provided to the Group;

	 (f)	 To ensure that a review of the effectiveness of the Group’s significant internal controls is conducted 
		  at least annually;

	 (g)	 To review the co-operation and assistance given by the management to the Group’s external 
		  auditors; and

	 (h)	 To review the re-appointment of the external auditors of the Group.

	 The Audit Committee has full authority to investigate any matters within its terms of reference, and 
	 has full access to the management of the Company.  It also has full discretion to invite any director and 
	 executive officer to attend its meetings.  The external and internal auditors have unrestricted access to 
	 the Audit Committee.

	 The Audit Committee held 2 meetings during the year. All members of the Audit Committee attended 
	 both meetings.

	 The Audit Committee has recommended to the directors the nomination of Deloitte & Touche LLP for 
	 re-appointment as external auditors of the Group at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting of the 
	 Company.

	 The Group is in compliance with Listing Rules 712 and 715 of the Singapore Exchange Securities 
	 Trading Limited as suitable auditing firms have been appointed to meet the Group’s audit obligations.
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Directors’ Statement
for the financial year ended September 30, 2015

8.	 AUDITORS

	 The auditors, Deloitte & Touche LLP, have expressed their willingness to accept re-appointment.

ON BEHALF OF THE DIRECTORS

Tan Koon Chwee

Tan Kong Leong

December 18, 2015
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Independent Auditors’ Report 
to the members of PNE Industries Ltd
for the financial year ended September 30, 2015

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of PNE Industries Ltd (the “Company”) and its 
subsidiaries (the “Group”) which comprise the statements of financial position of the Group and the Company 
as at September 30, 2015, and the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, statement 
of changes in equity and statement of cash flows of the Group and the statement of changes in equity of the 
Company for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
information, as set out on pages 18 to 65.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in 
accordance with the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act (the “Act”) and Singapore Financial Reporting 
Standards and for devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide 
a reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and 
transactions are properly authorised and that they are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of 
true and fair financial statements and to maintain accountability of assets.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.  We conducted 
our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing.  Those standards require that we comply 
with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements.  The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.  
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation 
of financial statements that give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s 
internal control.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the 
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation 
of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial position 
and statement of changes in equity of the Company are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions 
of the Act and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards so as to give a true and fair view of the financial 
position of the Group and of the Company as at September 30, 2015 and the financial performance, changes 
in equity and cash flows of the Group and changes in equity of the Company for the year ended on that date.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company and by 
those subsidiary corporations incorporated in Singapore of which we are the auditors have been properly 
kept in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

Deloitte & Touche LLP
Public Accountants and Chartered Accountants, Singapore

Lim Bee Hui
Partner
(With effect from financial year ended September 30, 2013)

December 18, 2015
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Statements of Financial Position
as at September 30, 2015

          		       	 Group	 Company 
				    Note	 2015	 2014	 2015	 2014	
					     $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and bank balances	 6	 28,188	 19,390	 904	 6,699
Trade receivables	 7	 27,764	 27,162	 109	 122
Other receivables and prepayments	 8	 1,063	 1,591	 11,710	 5,118
Inventories	 9	 13,381	 19,847	     -     	     -

					     70,396	 67,990	 12,723	 11,939
Assets classified as held for sale	 11	   4,900	     -     	 11,396	     - 
    
Total current assets		  75,296	 67,990	 24,119	 11,939

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment	 10	 6,118	 9,662	 -     	 -     
Investments in subsidiaries	 12	 -     	 -     	 19,514	 31,542
Investment in associate	 13	 568	 556	 -     	 -     
Available-for-sale investment	 14	 3,086	 3,786	 3,086	 3,786
Deferred tax assets	 15	     331	     396	     -     	     -     

Total non-current assets		  10,103	 14,400	 22,600	 35,328

Total assets		  85,399	 82,390	 46,719	 47,267

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities
Trade payables	 16	 10,681	 7,647	 44	 24
Other payables	 17	 2,346	 2,871	 580	 599
Income tax payable		       990	      793	        14	        12

					     14,017	 11,311	 638	      635
Liabilities associated with assets classified as 
	 held for sale	 11	      257	     -     	     -     	     -     

Total current liabilities		  14,274	 11,311	      638	     635

Non-current liability
Deferred tax liabilities	 15	       13	         7	     -     	     -     

Capital and reserves 
Share capital	 18	 36,991	 36,991	 36,991	 36,991
Currency translation deficit		  (5,977)	 (3,707)	 -     	 -     
Capital reserve		  115	 115	 -     	 -     
Investment revaluation reserve	 14	 -     	 (129)	 -     	 (129)
Accumulated profits		  39,983	 37,802	   9,090	   9,770

Equity attributable to equity holders of the
   Company, representing total equity		  71,112	 71,072	 46,081	 46,632

Total liabilities and equity		  85,399	 82,390	 46,719	 47,267

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss 
and Other Comprehensive Income
for the financial year ended September 30, 2015

               			   Group 
						      Note	 2015	 2014	
							       $’000	 $’000

Continuing operations

Revenue		  		  19	 74,047	   72,206
Cost of sales				    (54,613)	 (53,869)

Gross profit			   	 19,434	 18,337
Other operating income			   20a	 4,124	 10,144
Distribution costs				    (2,201)	 (1,976)
Administrative expenses				    (9,412)	 (9,193)
Other operating expenses			   20b	 (835)	 (860)
Share of results of associate			   13	      154	     (343)

Profit before tax				    11,264	 16,109
Income tax expense			   21	  (1,713)	  (1,266)

Profit for the year from continuing operations			   22	 9,551	 14,843

Discontinued operation

Loss for the year from discontinued operation			   26	  (2,335)	  (6,297)

Profit for the year		    		  7,216	   8,546

Other comprehensive income:
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
	 Disposal of associate				    -     	 1,487
	 Exchange difference arising on translation of foreign operations			   (2,270)	 199
	 Available-for-sale investment		       		  129	    (129)

	 Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax				    (2,141)	   1,557

Total comprehensive income for the year		    		  5,075	 10,103

Earnings per share (cents)
   From continuing and discontinued operations:
   Basic and diluted			   23	      8.6	    10.2

   From continuing operations:
   Basic and diluted			   23	    11.4	    17.7

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Statements of Changes in Equity
for the financial year ended September 30, 2015

									         Total
									         attributable
					     Currency		  Investment		  to equity
				    Share	 translation	 Capital	 revaluation	 Accumulated	 holders of
 				    capital	   deficit1  	 reserve2    	 reserve	 profits 	 the Company
				    $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

Group
Balance at		
	 October 1, 2013	 36,991	 (5,393)	 115	   -  	 38,990	 70,703
		
Total comprehensive 
	 income for the year	
	 Profit for the year	 -     	    -    	   -  	   -  	 8,546	 8,546 
	 Other comprehensive 
		  income for the year	     -     	 1,686	   -  	 (129)	     -     	   1,557

Total	    	  -     	 1,686	   -  	 (129)	   8,546	 10,103

Dividends paid, representing	  
	 transactions with owners,
	 recognised directly in
	 equity (Note 27)	     -     	    -    	   -  	   -  	  (9,734)	  (9,734)

Balance at		
	 September 30, 2014	 36,991	 (3,707)	 115	 (129)	 37,802	 71,072

Total comprehensive 
	 income for the year
	 Profit for the year	 -     	    -    	   -  	   -  	 7,216	 7,216	
	 Other comprehensive 
		  income for the year	     -     	 (2,270)	   -  	 129	     -     	  (2,141)

Total	     	 -     	 (2,270)	   -  	 129	   7,216	   5,075

Dividends paid, representing	     
	 transactions with owners,
	 recognised directly in
	 equity (Note 27)	     -     	    -    	   -  	   -  	  (5,035)	  (5,035)

Balance at 
	 September 30, 2015	 36,991	 (5,977)	 115	   -  	 39,983	 71,112

Notes:
(1)	 Comprises exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign entities.

(2) 	 Laws and regulations in the People’s Republic of China (PRC) require foreign investment enterprises to 
	 appropriate from profit after tax, an amount to the capital reserve fund.

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Statements of Changes in Equity
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					     Investment
				    Share	    revaluation	 Accumulated 
				    capital	 reserve	 profits	 Total
				    $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

Company
Balance at October 1, 2013	 36,991	 -  	 4,837	 41,828

Total comprehensive income for the year
	 Profit for the year	 -     	 -  	 14,667	 14,667 
	 Other comprehensive income for the year	     -     	 (129)	     -     	    (129)

Total	     	 -     	 (129)	 14,667	 14,538

Dividends paid, representing transactions 
	 with owners, recognised directly in 
	 equity (Note 27)	         -     	   -  	  (9,734)	  (9,734)

Balance at September 30, 2014	 36,991	 (129)	   9,770	 46,632

Total comprehensive income for the year
	 Profit for the year	 -     	 -  	 4,355	 4,355
   Other comprehensive income for the year	     -     	 129	     -     	      129

Total	     	 -     	 129	   4,355	   4,484

Dividends paid, representing transactions 
	 with owners, recognised directly in 
	 equity (Note 27)	     -     	   -  	  (5,035)	  (5,035)

Balance at September 30, 2015	 36,991	   -  	   9,090	 46,081

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
for the financial year ended September 30, 2015

               			   Group 
							       2015	 2014	
							       $’000	 $’000

Operating activities
	 Profit before tax from continuing operations				    11,264	 16,109
	 Loss before tax from discontinued operation	  			   (2,335)	  (5,324)

							       8,929	 10,785
	 Adjustments for:
		  Share of results of associates				    (154)	 343
		  Depreciation expense				    1,038	 1,515
		  Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment				   2	 2,094
		  Interest income				    (166)	 (94)
		  Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment				   (180)	 (5)
		  Property, plant and equipment written off				    44	 9
		  Impairment of available-for-sale investment				    829	 -     
		  Gain on disposal of associate				    -     	 (9,761)
		  (Reversal of) Allowance for doubtful trade receivables			   (131)	 2,623
		  (Reversal of) Allowance for inventory obsolescence (net)	   		   (167)	      644

	 Operating profit before movements in working capital			   10,044	 8,153

		  Trade receivables				    (778)	 (2,245)
		  Other receivables and prepayments				    567	 (55)
		  Inventories				    4,842	 2,308
		  Trade payables				    3,379	 (920)
		  Other payables	    			   (556)	      156

	 Cash generated from operations				    17,498	 7,397

	 Interest received				    166	 94
	 Income tax paid				    (1,325)	  (1,613)

Net cash from operating activities	   			   16,339	   5,878

Investing activities
	 Proceeds from disposal of associate (Note A)				    -     	 8,213
	 Dividend received from associate				    121	 86
	 Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment			   205	 44
	 Purchase of property, plant and equipment				    (1,123)	    (616)

Net cash (used in) from investing activities	    			   (797)	   7,727

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
for the financial year ended September 30, 2015

               			   Group 
							       2015	 2014	
							       $’000	 $’000

Financing activities
	 Fixed deposits and bank balances pledged				    74	 (209)
	 Dividends paid 	  			   (5,035)	  (9,734)

Net cash used in financing activities	  			   (4,961)	  (9,943)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents				    10,581	 3,662
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year				    19,058	 15,204
Net effect of foreign exchange rate changes	    			   (392)	     192

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year (Note 6)				    29,247	 19,058

Note A:
In 2014, the Group disposed part of its equity interest in its investment in PNE PCB Berhad, previously an 
associate (Note 13). This investment was subsequently reclassified as an available-for-sale investment (Note 
14) pursuant to a loss of significant influence. Cash proceeds of $8,213,000 were received in respect of the 
disposal.

See accompanying notes to financial statements.



24 PNE Industries Ltd Annual Report 2015

Notes to Financial Statements
for the financial year ended September 30, 2015

1.	 GENERAL

	 The Company (Registration No. 199905792R) is incorporated in Singapore with its principal place of 
	 business and registered office at 996 Bendemeer Road, #07-06, Singapore 339944.  The Company 
	 is listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited. The financial statements are expressed 
	 in Singapore dollars.

	 The principal activity of the Company is that of investment holding.  The principal activities of the 
	 subsidiaries and associates are disclosed in Notes 12 and 13 to the financial statements respectively.

	 The consolidated financial statements of the Group and statement of financial position and statement 
	 of changes in equity of the Company for the year ended September 30, 2015 were authorised for issue 
	 by the Board of Directors on December 18, 2015.

2.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

	 BASIS OF ACCOUNTING
	 The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the historical cost basis, except as disclosed 
	 in the accounting policies below, and are drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Singapore 
	 Companies Act and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (“FRS”).

	 Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods and 
	 services.

	 Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
	 transaction between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price 
	 is directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique.  In estimating the fair value of 
	 an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability which 
	 market participants would take into account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement 
	 date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial statements 
	 is determined on such a basis, except for leasing transactions that are within the scope of FRS 17, and 
	 measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable 
	 value in FRS 2 or value in use in FRS 36.

	 In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2
	 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the 
	 significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

	 l	 Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that 
		  the entity can access at the measurement date;

	 l	 Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for 
		  the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

	 l	 Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.
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Notes to Financial Statements
for the financial year ended September 30, 2015

2.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

	 ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED STANDARDS
	 On October 1, 2014, the Group adopted all the new and revised FRSs and Interpretations of FRSs 
	 (“INT FRSs”) that are effective from that date and are relevant to its operations.  The adoption of 
	 these new/revised FRSs, INT FRSs and amendments to FRSs does not result in changes to the Group’s 
	 and Company’s accounting policies and has no material effect on the amounts reported for the current 
	 or prior years.

	 At the date of authorisation of the financial statements, the following FRS, INT FRS and amendments to 
	 FRS that are relevant to the Group and the Company were issued but are not yet effective:

	 l	 FRS 109 Financial Instruments

	 l	 FRS 115 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

	 l	 Amendments to FRS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements: Disclosure Initiative

	 l	 Improvements to Financial Reporting Standards (November 2014) 

	 Consequential amendments were also made to various standards as a result of these new/revised 
	 standards.

	 Management anticipates that the adoption of the above FRSs, INT FRS and amendments to FRSs in 
	 future periods is not expected to have a material impact on the financial statements of the Group and 
	 of the Company in the period of their adoption except for the following:

	 (a)	FRS 109 Financial Instruments
		  FRS 109 was issued in December 2014 to replace FRS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
		  Measurement and introduced new requirements for (i) the classification and measurement of 
		  financial assets and financial liabilities (ii) general hedge accounting (iii) impairment requirements 
		  for financial assets.

		  Key requirements of FRS 109:

		  l	 All recognised financial assets that are within the scope of FRS 39 are now required to be 
			   subsequently measured at amortised cost or fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL). 

		  l	 With some exceptions, financial liabilities are generally subsequently measured at amortised 
			   cost. 

		  l	 In relation to the impairment of financial assets, FRS 109 requires an expected credit loss model, 
			   as opposed to an incurred credit loss model under FRS 39. The expected credit loss model 
			   requires an entity to account for expected credit losses and changes in those expected credit 
			   losses at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition. In other 
			   words, it is no longer necessary for a credit event to have occurred before credit losses are 
			   recognised.

		  FRS 109 will take effect from financial years beginning on or after January 1, 2018. The Group is 
		  currently evaluating the potential impact of the changes in the period of initial adoption.
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2.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

	 (b)	FRS 115 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
		  In November 2015, FRS 115 was issued which establishes a single comprehensive model for entities 
		  to use in accounting for revenue arising from contracts with customers. FRS 115 will supersede the 
		  current revenue recognition guidance including FRS 18 Revenue, FRS 11 Construction Contracts and 
		  the related interpretations when it becomes effective.

		  The core principle of FRS 115 is that an entity should recognise revenue to depict the transfer of 
		  promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the 
		  entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. Specifically, the standard 
		  introduces a 5-step approach to revenue recognition:

		  l	 Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer

		  l	 Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract

		  l	 Step 3: Determine the transaction price

		  l	 Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract

		  l	 Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation

		  Under FRS 115, an entity recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. 
		  when ‘control’ of the goods or services underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred 
		  to the customer. Far more prescriptive guidance has been added in FRS 115 to deal with specific 
		  scenarios. Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by FRS 115.

		  FRS 115 will take effect from financial years beginning on or after January 1, 2018. The Group is 
		  currently evaluating the impact of the changes in the period of initial adoption.

	 (c)	Amendments to FRS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements: Disclosure Initiative
		  The amendments have been made to the following:

		  l	 Materiality and aggregation - An entity shall not obscure useful information by aggregating or 
			   disaggregating information and materiality considerations apply to the primary statements, 
			   notes and any specific disclosure requirements in FRSs.

		  l	 Statement of financial position and statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 
			   - The list of line items to be presented in these statements can be aggregated or disaggregated 
			   as relevant. Guidance on subtotals in these statements has also been included.

		  l	 Presentation of items of other comprehensive income (“OCI”) arising from equity-accounted 
			   investments - An entity’s share of OCI of equity-accounted associates and joint ventures should 
			   be presented in aggregate as single items based on whether or not it will subsequently be 
			   reclassified to profit or loss.

		  l	 Notes - Entities have flexibility when designing the structure of the notes and guidance is 
			   introduced on how to determine a systematic order of the notes. In addition, unhelpful guidance 
			   and examples with regard to the identification of significant accounting policies are removed.

		  Amendments to FRS 1 will take effect from financial years beginning on or after January 1, 2016. The 
		  Group is currently evaluating the potential impact of the changes in the period of initial adoption.
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	 (d)	Improvements to Financial Reporting Standards (November 2014)
		  Standards included in this cycle of improvement project comprised of the following. Amendments 
		  apply for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2016, unless otherwise stated. 

		  Standard	 Topic	 Key amendment

		  FRS 105	 Changes in methods	 Provides additional guidance on when an entity reclassifies 
		  Non-current	 of disposal	 an asset (disposal group) from held-for-sale to held-for-
		  Assets Held for		  distribution to owners (or vice versa), or when held-for-
		  Sale and		  distribution accounting is discontinued:
		  Discontinued
		  Operations		  l	 Reclassifications from held-for-sale to held-for-distribution 
						      to owners (or vice versa) should not be considered 
						      changes to a plan of sale or a plan of distribution to 
						      owners, and the classification, presentation and 
						      measurement requirements applicable to the new method 
						      of disposal should be applied.

					     l	 Assets that no longer meet the criteria for held-for-
						      distribution to owners (and do not meet the criteria for 
						      held-for-sale) should be treated in the same way as assets 
						      that cease to be classified as held-for-sale.

		  The Group is currently evaluating the potential impact of the above improvements to Financial 
		  Reporting Standards (November 2014).

	 BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION
	 The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities 
	 controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries.  Control is achieved when the Company:

	 l	 has power over the investee;

	 l	 is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and

	 l	 has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

	 The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that 
	 there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

	 When the Company has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee, it has power over the 
	 investee when the voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant activities 
	 of the investee unilaterally. The Company considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing 
	 whether or not the Company’s voting rights in an investee are sufficient to give it power, including:

	 l	 the size of the Company’s holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of 
		  the other vote holders;

	 l	 potential voting rights held by the Company, other vote holders or other parties;
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	 l	 rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

	 l	 any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Company has, or does not have, the 
		  current ability to direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be made, including 
		  voting patterns at previous shareholders’ meetings.

	 Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases 
	 when the Company loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary 
	 acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and 
	 other comprehensive income from the date the Company gains control until the date when the Company 
	 ceases to control the subsidiary. 

	 Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the 
	 Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed 
	 to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
	 controlling interests having a deficit balance.

	 When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their 
	 accounting policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies.

	 Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries
	 Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing 
	 control over the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the 
	 Group’s interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative 
	 interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests 
	 are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity and 
	 attributed to owners of the Company.

	 When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is 
	 calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and 
	 the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including 
	 goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and non-controlling interests. All amounts previously 
	 recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the 
	 Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit 
	 or loss or transferred to another category of equity as specified/permitted by applicable FRSs). The fair 
	 value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as 
	 the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under FRS 39, when applicable, the cost 
	 on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or a joint venture.

	 In the Company’s financial statements, investments in subsidiaries and associate are carried at cost less 
	 any impairment in net recoverable value that has been recognised in profit or loss.
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	 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS
	 Acquisition of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The 
	 consideration for each acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the acquisition date fair values of 
	 assets given, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree, and equity interests 
	 issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are recognised in 
	 profit or loss as incurred.

	 Where applicable, the consideration for the acquisition includes any asset or liability resulting from a 
	 contingent consideration arrangement, measured at its acquisition-date fair value.  Subsequent 
	 changes in such fair values are adjusted against the cost of acquisition where they qualify as 
	 measurement period adjustments (see below).  The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair 
	 value of the contingent consideration that do not qualify as measurement period adjustments depends 
	 on how the contingent consideration is classified.  Contingent consideration that is classified as equity 
	 is not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within 
	 equity. Contingent consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured at subsequent 
	 reporting dates in accordance with FRS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, or 
	 FRS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets, as appropriate, with the corresponding 
	 gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss.

	 Where a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s previously held interests in the 
	 acquired entity are remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date the Group attains 
	 control) and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss.  Amounts arising from 
	 interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date that have previously been recognised in other 
	 comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss, where such treatment would be appropriate if 
	 that interest were disposed of.

	 The acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the conditions for 
	 recognition under the FRS are recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date, except that:

	 l	 deferred tax assets or liabilities and liabilities or assets related to employee benefit arrangements 
		  are recognised and measured in accordance with FRS 12 Income Taxes and FRS 19 Employee Benefits 
		  respectively;

	 l	 liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment transactions of the acquiree or 
		  the replacement of an acquiree’s share-based payment awards transactions with share-based 
		  payment awards transactions of the acquirer in accordance with the method in FRS 102 Share-based 
		  Payment at the acquisition date; and

	 l	 assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with FRS 105 
		  Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance with that 
		  standard.

	 If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period 
	 in which the combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the 
	 accounting is incomplete.  Those provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement period 
	 (see below), or additional assets or liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information obtained about 
	 facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the 
	 amounts recognised as of that date.

	 The measurement period is the period from the date of acquisition to the date the Group obtains 
	 complete information about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date - and is 
	 subject to a maximum of one year from acquisition date.
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	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
	 Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the Group’s statement of financial position 
	 when the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

	 Effective interest method
	 The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial instrument 
	 and of allocating interest income or expense over the relevant period.  The effective interest rate is the 
	 rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts or payments (including all fees on points paid 
	 or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums 
	 or discounts) through the expected life of the financial instrument, or where appropriate, a shorter 
	 period. Income and expense is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt instruments.

	 Financial assets
	 Financial assets are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs, except for those financial 
	 assets classified as at fair value through profit or loss which are initially measured at fair value.

	 Loans and receivables
	 Trade receivables, loans and other receivables that have fixed or determinable payments that are not 
	 quoted in an active market are classified as “loans and receivables”. Loans and receivables are measured 
	 at amortised cost using the effective interest method less impairment. Interest is recognised by applying 
	 the effective interest method, except for short-term receivables when the recognition of interest would 
	 be immaterial.

	 Available-for-sale financial assets
	 Certain shares held by the Group are classified as being available for sale and are stated at fair value. 
	 Fair value is determined in the manner described in Note 4. Gains and losses arising from changes in 
	 fair value are recognised in other comprehensive income with the exception of impairment losses, 
	 interest calculated using the effective interest method and foreign exchange gains and losses on 
	 monetary assets which are recognised directly in profit or loss. Where the investment is disposed of 
	 or is determined to be impaired, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive 
	 income and accumulated in investment revaluation reserve is reclassified to profit or loss. Dividends 
	 on available-for-sale equity instruments are recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right to 
	 receive payments is established.  

	 Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash flows
	 Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash flows comprise cash on hand and demand deposits 
	 that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of 
	 changes in value.
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	 Impairment of financial assets
	 Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting period.  Financial 
	 assets are impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that 
	 occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the 
	 financial asset have been impacted.

	 For available-for-sale equity instruments, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the 
	 investment below its cost is considered to be objective evidence of impairment.

	 For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment is the difference between 
	 the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the 
	 original effective interest rate.

	 The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial 
	 assets with the exception of trade and other receivables where the carrying amount is reduced through 
	 the use of an allowance account. When a trade or other receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against 
	 the allowance account.  Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against 
	 the allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised in 
	 profit or loss.

	 When an available-for-sale financial asset is considered to be impaired, cumulative gains or losses 
	 previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss.

	 With the exception of available-for-sale equity instruments, if, in a subsequent period, the amount of 
	 the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after 
	 the impairment loss was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through 
	 profit or loss to the extent the carrying amount of the investment at the date the impairment is reversed 
	 does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised.

	 In respect of available-for-sale equity instruments, impairment losses previously recognised in profit or 
	 loss are not reversed through profit or loss.  Any subsequent increase in fair value after an impairment 
	 loss is recognised in other comprehensive income.

	 Derecognition of financial assets
	 The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the 
	 asset expire, or it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of 
	 the asset to another entity.  If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and 
	 rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained 
	 interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay.  If the Group retains 
	 substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues 
	 to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.
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	 Financial liabilities and equity instruments

	 Classification as debt or equity
	 Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by the Group are classified according to the substance 
	 of the contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity 
	 instrument.

	 Equity instruments
	 An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group after 
	 deducting all of its liabilities.  Equity instruments are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct 
	 issue costs.

	 Trade and other payables
	 Trade and other payables are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs, and are subsequently 
	 measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method, with interest expense recognised on 
	 an effective yield basis.

	 Derecognition of financial liabilities
	 The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, 
	 cancelled or they expire.

	 CAPITAL RESERVE
	 Pursuant to relevant laws and regulations in the PRC applicable to foreign investment enterprises and the 
	 Articles of Association of the PRC subsidiaries, the dividend declaring subsidiaries are required to maintain 
	 two statutory reserves, being a statutory surplus reserve fund and an enterprise fund.  Appropriations to 
	 such reserves are made out of profit after taxation of the statutory financial statements of the 
	 subsidiaries.  The subsidiaries are required to transfer 10% of its profit after taxation as reported in its 
	 PRC statutory financial statements to the statutory surplus reserve fund until the balance reached 
	 50% of its registered capital.  The statutory surplus reserve fund can be used to make up prior year 
	 losses incurred and, with approval from relevant government authority, to increase capital.

	 LEASES
	 Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks 
	 and rewards of ownership to the lessee.  All other leases are classified as operating leases.

	 Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the 
	 term of the relevant lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in 
	 which economic benefits from the leased assets are consumed. Contingent rentals arising under 
	 operating leases are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

	 In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such incentives are 
	 recognised as a liability. The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental 
	 expense on a straight-line basis, except where another systematic basis is more representative of the 
	 time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased assets are consumed.

	 NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE 
	 Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will 
	 be recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. This condition 
	 is regarded as met only when the sale is highly probable and the asset (or disposal group) is available 
	 for immediate sale in its present condition. Management must be committed to the sale, which should 
	 be expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one year from the date of classification.
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	 When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving loss of control of a subsidiary, all of the assets 
	 and liabilities of that subsidiary are classified as held for sale when the criteria described above are met, 
	 regardless of whether the Group will retain a non-controlling interest in its former subsidiary after the 
	 sale.

	 Non-current assets (and disposal groups) classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of their 
	 previous carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.

	 INVENTORIES
	 Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs comprise direct materials 
	 and, where applicable, direct labour costs and those overheads that have been incurred in bringing the 
	 inventories to their present location and condition. Cost is calculated using the weighted average 
	 method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price less all estimated costs of completion 
	 and costs to be incurred in marketing, selling and distribution.

	 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
	 Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated 
	 impairment losses.

	 Construction-in-progress consists of land cost, related acquisition expenses and construction costs 
	 incurred during the period of construction.

	 Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost or valuation of assets, other than freehold land and 
	 properties under construction, over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method, on the 
	 following bases:
	
	 Leasehold land	 -	 Lease term of 50 to 97 years
	 Buildings	 -	 2% to 5%
	 Plant and machinery	 -	 10% to 20%
	 Furniture, fittings and office equipment	 -	 10% to 33.33%
	 Motor vehicles	 -	 10% to 20%
	 Tools and dies	 -	 20%

	 Fully depreciated assets still in use are retained in the financial statements.

	 The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at each year end, with 
	 the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

	 The gain or loss arising on disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is 
	 determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is 
	 recognised in profit or loss.

	 IMPAIRMENT OF TANGIBLE ASSETS 
	 At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible assets to 
	 determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss.  If any 
	 such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the 
	 extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of 
	 an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which 
	 the asset belongs. Where a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate 
	 assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the 
	 smallest group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be 
	 identified.
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	 Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use.  In assessing value in 
	 use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate 
	 that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset 
	 for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

	 If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying 
	 amount, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. 
	 An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

	 Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating 
	 unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying 
	 amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment 
	 loss been recognised for the asset (cash-generating unit) in prior years.  A reversal of an impairment 
	 loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

	 ASSOCIATES
	 An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary 
	 nor an interest in a joint venture.  Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and 
	 operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over those policies.

	 The results and assets and liabilities of associate are incorporated in these consolidated financial 
	 statements using the equity method of accounting, except when the investment, or a portion thereof, 
	 is classified as held for sale, in which case it is accounted for in accordance with FRS 105. Under 
	 the equity method, an investment in an associate is initially recognised in the consolidated statement 
	 of financial position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the profit or loss 
	 and other comprehensive income of the associate. When the Group’s share of losses of an associate 
	 exceeds the Group’s interest in that associate (which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, 
	 form part of the Group’s net investment in the associate), the Group discontinues recognising its share 
	 of further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal 
	 or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

	 An investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity method from the date on which the 
	 investee becomes an associate. On acquisition of the investment in an associate, any excess of the 
	 cost of the investment over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities 
	 of the investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying amount of the investment. 
	 Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the 
	 cost of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised immediately in profit or loss in the period in 
	 which the investment is acquired.

	 The requirements of FRS 39 are applied to determine whether it is necessary to recognise any impairment 
	 loss with respect to the Group’s investment in an associate. When necessary, the entire carrying amount 
	 of the investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with FRS 36 Impairment 
	 of Assets as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value 
	 less costs to sell) with its carrying amount, any impairment loss recognised forms part of the carrying 
	 amount of the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with 
	 FRS 36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases.

	 The Group discontinues the use of the equity method from the date when the investment ceases to be 
	 an associate, or when the investment is classified as held for sale. When the Group retains an interest in 
	 the former associate and the retained interest is a financial asset, the Group measures the retained 
	 interest at fair value at that date and the fair value is regarded as its fair value on initial recognition in 
	 accordance with FRS 39. The difference between the carrying amount of the associate at the date 
	 the equity method was discontinued, and the fair value of any retained interest and any proceeds from 
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	 disposing of a part interest in the associate is included in the determination of the gain or loss on 
	 disposal of the associate. In addition, the Group accounts for all amounts previously recognised in other 
	 comprehensive income in relation to that associate on the same basis as would be required if that 
	 associate had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously 
	 recognised in other comprehensive income by that associate would be reclassified to profit or loss on 
	 the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Group reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to 
	 profit or loss (as a reclassification adjustment) when the equity method is discontinued.

	 The Group continues to use the equity method when an investment in an associate becomes an 
	 investment in a joint venture or an investment in a joint venture becomes an investment in an associate. 
	 There is no remeasurement to fair value upon such changes in ownership interests.

	 When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate but the Group continues to use the 
	 equity method, the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion of the gain or loss that had 
	 previously been recognised in other comprehensive income relating to that reduction in ownership 
	 interest if that gain or loss would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related assets 
	 or liabilities.

	 When a Group entity transacts with an associate of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the 
	 transactions with the associate are recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial statements only to 
	 the extent of interests in the associate that are not related to the Group.

	 PROVISIONS
	 Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of 
	 a past event, it is probable that the Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable 
	 estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

	 The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle 
	 the present obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties 
	 surrounding the obligation.  Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the 
	 present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows.

	 When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered 
	 from a third party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement 
	 will be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

	 REVENUE RECOGNITION 
	 Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable.  Revenue is reduced 
	 for estimated customer returns, rebates and other similar allowances.

	 Sale of goods
	 Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when all the following conditions are satisfied:

	 l	 the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods;

	 l	 the Group retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with 
		  ownership nor effective control over the goods sold;

	 l	 the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

	 l	 it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the entity; and

	 l	 the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably.
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	 Interest income
	 Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective 
	 interest rate applicable.

	 Dividend income
	 Dividend income from investments is recognised when the shareholders’ rights to receive payment 
	 have been established.

	 Management fee income
	 Management fee income is recognised when earned.

	 RETIREMENT BENEFIT COSTS
	 Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are charged as an expense when employees 
	 have rendered the services entitling them to the contributions. Payments made to state-managed 
	 retirement benefit schemes, such as the Singapore Central Provident Fund, are dealt with as payments 
	 to defined contribution plans where the Group’s obligations under the plans are equivalent to those 
	 arising in a defined contribution retirement benefit plan.

	 EMPLOYEE LEAVE ENTITLEMENT
	 Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to employees.  A provision is 
	 made for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to the 
	 end of the reporting period.

	 INCOME TAX
	 Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

	 The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.  Taxable profit differs from profit as 
	 reported in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income because it excludes items 
	 of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are 
	 not taxable or tax deductible.  The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates (and 
	 tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted in countries where the Company and 
	 subsidiaries operate by the end of the reporting period.

	 Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the 
	 financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit.  
	 Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred 
	 tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against 
	 which deductible temporary differences can be utilised.  Such assets and liabilities are not recognised 
	 if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business 
	 combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the 
	 accounting profit.

	 Deferred tax liabilities are recognised on taxable temporary differences arising on investments in 
	 subsidiaries and associates, except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary 
	 difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 
	 Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated with such investments 
	 and interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable 
	 profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to 
	 reverse in the foreseeable future.
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	 The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced 
	 to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or 
	 part of the asset to be recovered.

	 Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is 
	 settled or the asset realised based on the tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively 
	 enacted by the end of the reporting period.

	 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current 
	 tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same 
	 taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

	 Current and deferred tax are recognised as an expense or income in profit or loss, except when they 
	 relate to items credited or debited outside profit or loss (either in other comprehensive income or directly 
	 in equity), in which case the tax is also recognised outside profit or loss (either in other comprehensive 
	 income or directly in equity, respectively).

	 FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSACTIONS AND TRANSLATION
	 The individual financial statements of each group entity are measured and presented in the currency of 
	 the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (its functional currency). The consolidated 
	 financial statements of the Group and the statement of financial position and statement of changes in 
	 equity of the Company are presented in Singapore dollars, which is the functional currency of the 
	 Company, and the presentation currency for the consolidated financial statements.

	 In preparing the financial statements of the individual entities, transactions in currencies other than the 
	 entity’s functional currency are recorded at the rate of exchange prevailing on the date of the transaction.  
	 At the end of each reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated 
	 at the rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period.  Non-monetary items carried at fair value that 
	 are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the 
	 fair value was determined.  Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a 
	 foreign currency are not retranslated.

	 Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on retranslation of monetary 
	 items are included in profit or loss for the period.  Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of 
	 non-monetary items carried at fair value are included in profit or loss for the period except for differences 
	 arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items in respect of which gains and losses are recognised 
	 in other comprehensive income.  For such non-monetary items, any exchange component of that gain 
	 or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income.

	 For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the 
	 Group’s foreign operations (including comparatives) are expressed in Singapore dollars using exchange 
	 rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period.  Income and expense items (including comparatives) 
	 are translated at the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuated significantly 
	 during that period, in which case the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions are used.  Exchange 
	 differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in a separate 
	 component of equity under the header of currency translation deficit.
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2.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

	 On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign 
	 operation, or a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, 
	 loss of joint control over a jointly controlled entity that includes a foreign operation, or loss of significant 
	 influence over an associate that includes a foreign operation), all of the accumulated exchange 
	 differences in respect of that operation attributable to the Group are reclassified to profit or loss. Any 
	 exchange differences that have previously been attributed to non-controlling interests are derecognised, 
	 but they are not reclassified to profit or loss.

	 In the case of a partial disposal (i.e. no loss of control) of a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, 
	 the proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences are re-attributed to non-controlling 
	 interests and are not recognised in profit or loss.  For all other partial disposals (i.e. of associates or 
	 jointly controlled entities that do not result in the Group losing significant influence or joint control), 
	 the proportionate share of the accumulated exchange differences is reclassified to profit or loss.

3.	 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

	 In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 2, management 
	 is required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and 
	 liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions 
	 are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant.  Actual results 
	 may differ from these estimates.

	 The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Revisions to accounting 
	 estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that 
	 period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future 
	 periods.

	 Critical judgements in applying the entity’s accounting policies
	 Management is of the opinion that there are no critical judgements involved that have a significant 
	 effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements (apart from those involving estimations 
	 which are dealt with below).

	 Key sources of estimation uncertainty
	 The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the 
	 reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts 
	 of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed below.

	 Allowances for doubtful receivables
	 An allowance for doubtful receivables is set up to account for estimated loss resulting from the 
	 inability of the customers to make required payments.  If the financial conditions of the customers were 
	 to deteriorate further, resulting in an impairment of their ability to make payments, additional allowances 
	 may be required in future periods.  Management specifically analyses accounts receivables comprising of 
	 trade and other receivables and analyses historic bad debt, customer concentrations, customer 
	 worthiness, current economic trends and changes in the customer payment terms when making a 
	 judgement to evaluate the adequacy of the allowance for doubtful receivables.

	 The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables are disclosed in Notes 7 and 8 respectively.
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3.	 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
	  (continued)

	 Allowance for inventories
	 Management reviews the inventory listing on a periodic basis.  This review involves comparison of the 
	 carrying value of the inventory items with the respective net realisable value.  The purpose is to assess 
	 whether an allowance is required to be made in the financial statements for slow-moving items.  
	 Management is satisfied that adequate allowance for inventories has been made in the financial 
	 statements.

	 The carrying amount of inventories is disclosed in Note 9.

	 Impairment in property, plant and equipment
	 To assess whether an asset at the end of the reporting period has been impaired, it is necessary to 
	 determine the recoverable amount of the asset which either requires an estimation of the future cash 
	 flows expected to be generated from it and the use of a suitable discount rate or the fair value less cost 
	 of disposal.  

	 In 2015, the Group had recorded an impairment loss of $2,000 based on value-in-use of the plant 
	 and equipment, which is higher than its fair value less costs to sell. Further details have been disclosed 
	 in Note 10, together with the carrying amount of the property, plant and equipment.

	 In 2014, management had assessed and was of the view that there was indication of impairment in 
	 plant and equipment due to continuing losses suffered by one of its subsidiaries. The Group had 
	 recorded an impairment loss of $2,094,000 based on management’s best estimate that the fair value 
	 less cost of disposal was approximately $Nil. Management had also assessed that there was no value-in-
	 use as the future cash flows of the cash-generating unit was negative.

	 Investments in subsidiaries and associate
	 At the end of the financial year, the Group and the Company review the carrying amounts of its investments 
	 in subsidiaries and associate to determine whether there is any indication that those investments have 
	 suffered an impairment loss.  If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the investment, 
	 which is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use, is estimated in order to determine 
	 the extent of the impairment loss (if any).

	 In 2015, the Company recorded an impairment loss of $632,000 (2014: $Nil) in its investment in a 
	 subsidiary based on its recoverable amount determined by fair value less costs to sell. Details of the 
	 carrying amount of the investments in subsidiaries and associate are provided in Notes 12 and 13 
	 respectively.

	 Impairment of available-for-sale investment
	 The Group follows the guidance of FRS 39 in determining whether the available-for-sale investment is 
	 considered impaired. The Group evaluates, amongst other factors, the duration and extent to which the 
	 fair value of an investment is less than its cost, the financial health of and the near-term business 
	 outlook of the investee, including factors such as industry and sector performance, changes in technology 
	 and operational and financing cash flows. The fair value of available-for-sale investment is disclosed in 
	 Note 14. 
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4.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT

	 (A)	Categories of financial instruments
		  The following table sets out the financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period:

               		  Group	 Company 
					     2015	 2014	 2015	 2014
					     $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

		  Financial Assets
		  Loans and receivables 
			   (including cash and cash equivalents)		  58,960	 47,922	 12,701	 11,917
		  Available-for-sale financial asset	   	 3,086	   3,786	   3,086	   3,786

		  Financial Liabilities
		  Amortised cost		  13,284	 10,518	      624	      623

	 (B)	Financial instruments subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangements and 
		  similar agreements
		  The Group and Company do not have any financial instruments which are subject to enforceable 
		  master netting arrangements or similar netting arrangements.

	 (C)	Financial risk management policies and objectives
		  The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks, including the effects of changes in 
		  foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates.

		  The Group does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for speculative purpose.

		  There has been no change to the Group’s exposure to these financial risks or the manner in which 
		  it manages and measures the risks.  Market risk exposures are measured using sensitivity analysis 
		  as indicated below.

		  (i)	 Foreign exchange risk management
			   Foreign exchange risk arises from a change in foreign currency exchange rate which is expected 
			   to have an adverse effect on the Group and Company in the current reporting period and in future 
			   years.

			   The Group has sales and purchases primarily denominated in Renminbi, Euro, Malaysian ringgit, 
			   United States dollars, Hong Kong dollars and Singapore dollars. Fluctuations in the exchange 
			   rate between the Renminbi, Euro, Malaysian ringgit, United States dollars, Hong Kong dollars 
			   and Singapore dollars will therefore have an impact on the Group. With a higher proportion of 
			   sales than purchases and expenses denominated in either Renminbi, Euro, United States dollars 
			   or Malaysian ringgit, any depreciation of Renminbi, Euro, United States dollars or Malaysian 
			   ringgit against Singapore dollars will have an unfavourable impact on the Group.

			   The Group does not have any formal policy with respect to the foreign currency exposure and 
			   does not intend to pursue such a policy in the future.
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4.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT
	 (continued)

			   At the reporting date, the carrying amounts of monetary assets and monetary liabilities 
			   denominated in currencies other than the respective group entities’ functional currencies are as 
			   follows:

				    Group	 Company
               		  Assets	 Liabilities 	 Assets	 Liabilities 
				    2015	 2014	 2015	 2014	 2015	 2014	 2015	 2014	
				    $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

			   United States dollars	 57,428	 40,951	 24,596	 19,658	 11,874	 10,256	 -    	 -    
			   Malaysian ringgit	 2,207	 2,582	 -     	 -     	 363	 758	 -    	 -    
			   Hong Kong dollars	 -    	 -     	 491	 625	 -     	 -     	 -    	 -    
			   Renminbi	 7	 9	 -     	 -     	 -     	 8	 -    	 -    
			   Euro	 20	 188	 51	 42	 -     	 -     	 -    	 -    
			   Singapore dollars	   3,082	   3,989	     170	     373	     -     	     -     	    -    	    -    

			   The Company has investments in foreign subsidiaries and associate whose net assets are 
			   exposed to currency risk.

			   Foreign currency sensitivity
			   The following table details the sensitivity to a 10% increase and decrease in the relevant foreign 
			   currencies against the functional currency of each group entity. 10% is the sensitivity rate used 
			   when reporting foreign currency risk internally to key management personnel and represents 
			   management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates.  The 
			   sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and 
			   adjusts their translation at the period end for a 10% change in foreign currency rates.  The 
			   sensitivity analysis includes loans to foreign operations within the Group where they gave rise to 
			   an impact on the Group’s profit or loss.

			   If United States dollar, Singapore dollar and Malaysian ringgit weakens by 10% against the 
			   functional currency of each group entity with all other variables being held constant, the profit 
			   before tax will decrease by:

				    US dollar impact	 Singapore dollar impact	 Malaysian ringgit impact
               		  Group	 Company 	 Group	 Company	 Group	 Company 
				    2015	 2014	 2015	 2014	 2015	 2014	 2015	 2014	 2015	 2014	 2015	 2014	
				    $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

			   Profit before tax	 3,283(i)	 2,129(i)	 1,187(ii)	 1,026(ii)	 291(i)	 362(i)	 -	 -	 221(i)	 258(i)	 36(iii) 	 76(iii) 

			   If United States dollar, Singapore dollar and Malaysian ringgit strengthens by 10% against the 
			   functional currency of each group entity with other variables being held constant, profit before 
			   tax will increase by the same amount above.

			   (i)	 This is mainly attributable to the exposure outstanding on receivables and payables at year 
				    end in the Group.

			   (ii)	 This is mainly attributable to the exposure outstanding on receivables from subsidiaries at 
				    year end.

			   (iii)	 This is mainly attributable to the exposure on foreign currency denominated cash and bank 
				    balances at year end.

			   No sensitivity analysis has been presented for the other foreign currencies as management is of 
			   the view that any fluctuations in those foreign currencies will not have a material impact on the 
			   Group’s and Company’s profit before tax.
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4.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT
	  (continued)

		  (ii)	Interest rate risk management
			   Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes 
			   in market interest rates.

			   The Group and the Company are exposed to interest rate or cash flow risk for financial instruments 
			   with a floating interest rate that is reset as market rates change.  The Group manages its interest 
			   rate risk by monitoring the movements in the market interest rates closely.

			   No sensitivity analysis is prepared as the Group and the Company do not expect any material 
			   effect on the Group’s and the Company’s profit or loss arising from the effects of reasonably 
			   possible changes to interest rates on interest bearing financial instruments at the end of the 
			   reporting period.

		  (iii)	Credit risk management
			   Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting 
			   in a loss to the Group and Company.  The Group and Company have adopted the policy of 
			   only dealing with creditworthy counterparties and obtaining sufficient collateral or other security 
			   where appropriate, as a means of mitigating the risk of financial losses from defaults.

			   The Company does not have any significant credit risk exposure to any single counterparty or any 
			   group of counterparties having similar characteristics except that the Company has significant 
			   non-trade receivables from 2 (2014 : 2) subsidiaries amounting to $11,688,000 (2014 : 
			   $5,096,000) as at September 30, 2015.

			   The Group does not have any significant credit risk exposure to any single counterparty or any 
			   group of counterparties having similar characteristics except that as at September 30, 2015, 
			   the Group has 2 (2014 : 2) major outstanding third party debtors amounting to $15,885,000 
			   (2014 : $14,009,000) which accounted for 56% (2014 : 45%) of the total gross trade receivable 
			   balance.

			   The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial statements, grossed up for any 
			   allowances for losses, and the exposure to defaults from financial guarantees, represents the 
			   Group’s and Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk without taking into account the value 
			   of any collateral or other security obtained.

			   Further details of credit risks on trade and other receivables are disclosed in Notes 7 and 8 
			   respectively.

		  (iv)	Equity price risk management
			   The Group is exposed to equity risks arising from equity investments classified as available-for-
			   sale.  Available-for-sale equity investments are held for strategic rather than trading purposes.  
			   The Group does not actively trade available-for-sale investments.

			   Further details of these equity investments can be found in Note 14 to the financial statements.

			   Equity price sensitivity

			   The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the exposure to equity price risks 
			   at the reporting date.

			   In respect of available-for-sale equity investment, if the equity price had been 5% higher/lower 
			   while all other variables were held constant; the Group’s investment revaluation reserve would 
			   increase/decrease by $154,000 (2014 : $189,000).
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           Fair value as at ($’000)

4.	 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT 
	 (continued)

		  (v)	Liquidity risk management
			   The Group maintains sufficient cash and cash equivalents, and internally generated cash flows to 
			   finance its activities.  The Group minimises liquidity risk by keeping committed credit lines 
			   available.

			   The Group and the Company do not have interest bearing financial liabilities and assets except 
			   for fixed deposits held by the Group as disclosed in Note 6.

			   At the end of the reporting period, the Group has no financial guarantee exposure as the banking 
			   facilities utilised by the Group is secured by fixed deposits as disclosed in Note 6.

		  (vi)	Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities
			   The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables and trade and 
			   other payables approximate their respective fair values due to the relatively short-term maturity 
			   of these financial instruments. The fair values of other classes of financial assets and liabilities 
			   are disclosed in the respective notes to financial statements.

			   Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period. 
			   The following table gives information about how the fair values of these financial assets are 
			   determined (in particular, the valuation technique and inputs used).
									       

									       

												          

										        

	  						    

				             Fair value	 Valuation technique

	   Financial assets	 Assets	 Assets	          hierarchy	 and key input	

		

	   Available-for-sale investments (see note 14)

	

	   Available-	 3,086	 3,786	 Level 1	 Quoted bid prices	

	   for-sale investments				    in an active market

	 (D)	Capital risk management policies and objectives
		  The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a 
		  going concern while maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and 
		  equity balance.

		  The capital structure of the Group consists of equity attributable to equity holders of the parent, 
		  comprising issued capital, reserves and retained earnings.

		  The Group’s Board of Directors reviews the capital structure on a yearly basis and balances the 
		  Group’s overall capital structure through the payment of dividends.

		  The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from 2014.

      2015	                        2014
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5.	 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

	 Some of the Group’s transactions and arrangements are with related parties and the effect of these 
	 on the basis determined between the parties is reflected in these financial statements.  The balances 
	 are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

	 During the year, group entities entered into the following transactions with related parties:

               			   Group 
							       2015	 2014
							       $’000	 $’000

	 Transactions with associates:
	 Purchase of goods				    39	 1,307
	 Commission				    1,386	 1,020

	 Compensation of directors and key management personnel

	 The remuneration of directors and other members of key management during the year was as follows:

               			   Group 
							       2015	 2014
							       $’000	 $’000

	 Short-term benefits				    2,129	 2,091
	 Post-employment benefits	     			   55	     51
	
							       2,184	 2,142

6.	 CASH AND BANK BALANCES

               		  Group	 Company 
					     2015	 2014	 2015	 2014
					     $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

	 Fixed deposits		  21,459	 8,624	 -  	 -        
	 Cash and bank balances	   	 6,729	 10,766	 904	 6,699

	 Total			   28,188	 19,390	 904	 6,699
	 Add: Cash and cash equivalents included in 
			   a disposal group held for sale (Note 11)		  1,317	 -     	 -  	 -    
	 Less:  Fixed deposits and bank balances pledged	   	  (258)	      (332)	   -  	    -    

	 Cash and cash equivalents in consolidated 
		  statement of cash flows		  29,247	 19,058	 904	 6,699

	 Cash and bank balances comprise cash and fixed deposits held by the Group which are readily convertible 
	 to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Fixed deposits 
	 bear interest at average interest rates ranging from 0.07% to 0.8% (2014 : 0.1% to 1.0%) per annum and 
	 with a tenure of three months or less (2014 : three months or less).  Fixed deposits of $258,000 (2014 
	 : $332,000) had been pledged for bank guarantees granted to third parties on behalf of the Group.
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6.	 CASH AND BANK BALANCES (continued)

	 As at September 30, 2015, the Group had cash and cash equivalents placed with banks in China 
	 amounting to $1,830,000 (2014 : $1,539,000). The repatriation of these cash into Singapore is subject 
	 to the Foreign Exchange Control Regulations in China.

7.	 TRADE RECEIVABLES

               		  Group	 Company 
					     2015	 2014	 2015	 2014
					     $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

	 Subsidiaries (Note 12)	     	 -     	    -     	 109	 122
	 Outside parties		  28,282	 30,921	 -  	 -  
	 Allowance for doubtful trade receivables 
		  – outside parties	    	 (518)	 (3,759)	   -  	   -  
	
					     27,764	 27,162	 109 	 122	
	 Classified as part of a disposal group held for sale 
		  (Note 11)	     	 798	    -     	   -  	   -  

	 Total			   28,562	 27,162	 109	 122

	 The average credit period on sales of goods ranged from 30 days to 90 days (2014 : 30 days to 90 
	 days).  No interest is charged on outstanding trade receivables that are beyond the credit timeframe.

	 Allowance for doubtful trade receivables is determined by reference to past default experience.

	 Before accepting any new customer, the Group assesses the potential customer’s credit quality and 
	 defines credit limits by customer.  Credit limits are reviewed on an ongoing basis.

	 In determining the recoverability of a trade receivable, the Group considers any change in the credit 
	 quality of the trade receivable from the date credit was initially granted up to the reporting date.  
	 Accordingly, management believes that there is no further credit provision required in excess of the 
	 allowance for doubtful trade receivables.
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7.	 TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

	 The table below is an analysis of trade receivables:

               		  Group	 Company 
					     2015	 2014	 2015	 2014	
					     $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

	 Not past due and not impaired		  27,022	 24,852	 109	 122
	 Past due but not impaired (i)	   	   1,540	   2,310	   -  	   -  

					     28,562	 27,162	 109	 122

	 Impaired receivables - individually assessed (ii)

		  -  Poor response to repayment demands		  518	 3,759	   -  	   -  
	 Less:  Provision for impairment		  (518)	 (3,759)	   -  	   -  

		   			     -     	    -     	   -  	   -  

	 Total trade receivables, net		  28,562	 27,162	 109	 122

	 (i)	 Aging of receivables that are past due but not impaired:
		  Up to 3 months		  153	 228	 -  	 -  
		  4 months to 6 months		  963	 1,518	 -  	 -  
		  7 months to 12 months		  325	 505	 -  	 -  
		  More than 12 months	     	   99	       59	   -  	   -  

			     		  1,540	   2,310	   -  	   -

	 (ii)	 These amounts are stated before any deduction for impairment losses.  These receivables are not 
		  secured by any collateral or credit enhancements.

	 Movements in the allowance for doubtful trade receivables are as follows:

               			   Group 
							       2015	 2014
							       $’000	 $’000

	 Balance at beginning of year				    3,759	  1,266
	 (Reversal of) Allowance made during the year				    (131)	 2,623
	 Written off during the year				    (1)	    (84)
	 Transferred to assets classified as held for sale				    (3,478)	     -    
	 Currency translation differences	    			   369	    (46)

	 Balance at end of year	    			   518	 3,759

	 Allowances for doubtful trade receivables are recognised for the estimated irrecoverable amounts from 
	 the sale of goods and services rendered. These allowances for doubtful trade receivables are determined 
	 after a detailed assessment by management taking into account the profile of the debtors, the economic 
	 conditions of the country and the industry that these debtors are based in and the likelihood of 
	 collection. Management is of the view that the allowance made is appropriate. 

	 During the year, management recorded a reversal of allowance for doubtful debts of $131,000 as the 
	 amount was collected during the year.
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8.	 OTHER RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENTS

               		  Group	 Company 
					     2015	 2014	 2015	 2014
					     $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

	 Value-added tax recoverable		  238	 601	 -     	 -    
	 Prepayments		  180	 221	 22	 22
	 Deposits		  200	 209	 -     	 -    
	 Subsidiaries (Note 12)		  -   	 -    	 11,688	 5,096
	 Export tax rebates recoverable		  251	 286	 -     	 -    
	 Others	    	 194	    274	    -     	    -    

					     1,063	 1,591	 11,710	 5,118
	 Classified as part of a disposal group held 
		  for sale (Note 11)	     	 10	    -    	    -     	     -    

	 Total			   1,073	 1,591	 11,710	 5,118

	 Management has considered the credit quality of other receivables at the end of the reporting period, 
	 and is of the view that these receivables are recoverable.

9.	 INVENTORIES
 
               			   Group 
							       2015	 2014
							       $’000	 $’000

	 Finished goods				    2,673	    6,478
	 Work in progress				    1,417	 1,597
	 Raw materials	  			    9,291	 11,772

	 Total					     13,381	 19,847
	 Classified as part of a disposal group held for sale (Note 11)			       284	     -     

	 Total					     13,665	 19,847

	 Movements in the allowance for inventory obsolescence are as follows:

               			   Group 
							       2015	 2014
							       $’000	 $’000

	 Balance at beginning of year				    2,872	    2,200
	 (Credit) Charge to profit or loss				    (167)	 644
	 Written off during the year				    (95)	 -     
	 Transferred to assets classified as held for sale	    			   (758)	     -     
	 Exchange differences	    			   (127)	       28

	 Balance at end of the year	   			   1,725	   2,872

	 During the year, write back of allowance for inventory obsolescence of $167,000 were made as inventory 
	 that were previously provided for were subsequently sold during the year (2014 : $644,000 of allowance 
	 were made due to write-downs of inventory to net realisable value).
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10.	PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

								        Furniture,				  
								        fittings		  Tools			 
				    Leasehold	 Freehold		  Plant and	 and office	 Motor	 and	 Construction		
				    land	 land	 Buildings	 machinery	 equipment	 vehicles	 dies	 -in-progress 	Total

				    $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

	 Group
	 Cost:
	    At October 1, 2013	 2,720	 331	 8,881	 18,298	 1,595	 1,108	 34	 341	 33,308
	    Additions	 -    	 -  	 -    	 217	 192	 136	 - 	 71	 616
	    Disposals	 -    	 -  	 -    	 (25)	 (4)	 (138)	 - 	 -  	 (167)
	    Write off	 -    	 -  	 -    	 (493)	 (42)	 -    	 - 	 -  	 (535)
	    Exchange differences	      88	   15	    127	    (150)	    (10)	     24	   2	 (10)	        86

	    At September 30, 2014	 2,808	 346	 9,008	 17,847	 1,731	 1,130	 36	 402	 33,308
	    Additions	 -    	 -  	 -    	 974	 41	 108	 - 	 -  	 1,123
	    Disposals	 -    	 -  	 -    	 (1,235)	 (38)	 (77)	 - 	 -  	 (1,350)
	    Write off	 -    	 -  	 -    	 (89)	 (24)	 -    	 - 	 (428)	 (541)
	    Transfer	 -    	 -  	 -    	 155	 (155)	 -    	 - 	 -  	 -     
	    Reclassified as held 
			   for sale (Note 11)	 (533)	 -  	 (3,849)	 (8,669)	 (196)	 (172)	 - 	 -  	(13,419)
		  Exchange differences	   (419)	  (69)	   (697)	      104	       5	   (125)	  (7)	   26	  (1,182)

	    At September 30, 2015	 1,856	 277	 4,462	   9,087	 1,364	    864	 29	   -  	 17,939

	 Accumulated depreciation:
		  At October 1, 2013	 619	   -  	 3,002	 12,834	 1,183	 721	 34	   -  	 18,393
	    Depreciation for the year	 47	   -  	 281	 925	 101	 161	 - 	   -  	 1,515
	    Disposals	 -    	   -  	 -    	 (21)	 (3)	 (104)	 - 	   -  	 (128)
	    Write off	 -    	   -  	 -    	 (310)	 (34)	 -    	 - 	   -  	 (344)
	    Exchange differences	      22	   -  	     18	      (70)	    (16)	      18	   2	   -  	      (26)

	    At September 30, 2014	    688	   -  	 3,301	 13,358	 1,231	    796	 36	   -  	 19,410
	    Depreciation for the year	 46	   -  	 285	 485	 107	 115	 - 	   -  	 1,038
	    Disposals	 -    	   -  	 -    	 (708)	 (32)	 (59)	 - 	   -  	 (799)
	    Write off	 -    	   -  	 -    	 (84)	 (24)	 -    	 - 	   -  	 (108)
	    Transfer	 -    	 -  	 -    	 133	 (133)	 -    	 - 	 -  	 -     
	    Reclassified as held 
			   for sale (Note 11)	 (149)	 -  	 (1,875)	 (5,625)	 (154)	 (81)	 - 	 -  	 (7,884)
	    Exchange differences	   (105)	    -  	   (145)	        (3)	     34	    (92)	  (7)	    -  	    (318)

	    At September 30, 2015	     480	    -  	 1,566	   7,556	 1,029	    679	 29	    -  	 11,339

	 Impairment:
		  At October 1, 2013	 118	   -  	 442	 1,492	    -    	    -    	  - 	 308	 2,360
	    Impairment for the year	 -    	   -  	 -    	 2,027	 -    	 -    	 - 	 67	 2,094
	    Write off	 -    	   -  	 -    	 (182)	 -    	 -    	 - 	 -  	 (182)
	    Exchange differences	       5	   -  	      20	      (52)	    -    	    -    	  - 	   (9)	      (36)

	    At September 30, 2014	    123	   -  	    462	   3,285	    -    	    -    	  - 	 366	   4,236
	    Impairment for the year	 -    	   -  	 -    	 2	 -    	 -    	 - 	 -  	 2
	    Disposal	 -    	   -  	 -    	 (526)	 -    	 -    	 - 	 -  	 (526)
	    Write off	 -    	   -  	 -    	 -   	 -    	 -    	 - 	 (389)	 (389)
	    Reclassified as held 
			   for sale (Note 11)	 -    	   -  	 -    	 (3,044)	 -    	 -    	 - 	 -  	 (3,044)
	    Exchange differences	    (25)	   -  	     (92)	     297	    -    	    -    	  - 	   23	     203

	    At September 30, 2015	     98	   -  	    370	       14	    -    	    -    	  - 	   -  	     482

	 Carrying amount:
		  At September 30, 2015	 1,278	 277	 2,526	   1,517	    335	    185	  - 	   -  	   6,118

	    At September 30, 2014	 1,997	 346	 5,245	   1,204	    500	    334	  - 	   36	   9,662
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10.	PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

	 In 2014, due to continuing losses suffered by a subsidiary, management recorded an impairment loss 
	 of $2,094,000 for certain plant and equipment based on management’s best estimate that the fair value 
	 less cost of disposal was approximately $Nil and that there was no value-in-use as the future cash flows 
	 of the cash-generating unit was negative. 

11.	ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE

	 During the year, the Company committed a plan  to dispose all of its shareholdings in its subsidiary, 
	 PNE Print Technology Co., Ltd. (“PNE Print”). Its principal business is in the manufacturing and sale of 
	 pre-sensitised plates. PNE Print had ceased manufacturing operations since November 2014.

	 On November 13, 2015, the Company entered into a framework agreement with a third party for the 
	 proposed disposal of its 100% shareholdings in PNE Print. The consideration for the proposed disposal 
	 is RMB 46 million (equivalent to $10,235,000) and the amount of cash and bank balance of PNE Print 
	 at a future date to be determined.

	 The assets and liabilities attributable to PNE Print, which is expected to be disposed within twelve 
	 months from the end of the reporting period, have been classified as a disposal group held for sale and 
	 presented separately in the statement of financial position.  
	
	 The proceeds of disposal are expected to exceed the net carrying amount of the relevant assets and 
	 liabilities and, accordingly, no impairment loss has been recognised on the re-classification of the 
	 disposal group as held for sale. The major classes of assets and liabilities comprising the disposal 
	 group classified as held for sale are as follows:
 
               				    Group 
								        2015
								        $’000

	 Cash and bank balances					     1,317
	 Trade receivables					     798
	 Other receivables					     10
	 Inventories					     284
	 Property, plant and equipment					     2,491

	 Total assets classified as held for sale					     4,900
	 Other payables, and total for liabilities associated with assets classified as held for sale		    (257)

	 Net assets of disposal group					     4,643

	 During the year, the Company recorded an impairment loss of $632,000 in its investment in PNE Print 
	 based on its recoverable amount determined by fair value less costs to sell. The carrying amount of the 
	 investment in PNE Print as at September 30, 2015 is set out below:

               				    Company	
						      2015
								        $’000

	 Unquoted equity shares, at cost					     12,028
	 Less:  Allowance for impairment loss		     			   (632)

	 Asset classified as held for sale					     11,396
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12.	 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
 
               			   Company 
							       2015	 2014
							       $’000	 $’000

	 Unquoted equity shares, at cost				    19,514	 31,542
	 Classified as asset held for sale (Note 11)				    11,396	      -    

							       30,910	 31,542

	 Due from subsidiary – non-trade				    171	  288
	 Less:  Allowance for impairment loss	    			    (171)	     (288)

		   					        -     	     -     

	 Total					     30,910	 31,542

	 Details of the subsidiaries are as follows:

              			   Proportion of	
					     ownership interest/	 Principal activities/
	 Name of subsidiary	 Cost	 voting power held 	 Country of incorporation
				    2015	 2014	 2015	 2014
				    $’000	 $’000	 %	 %

	 Held by the Company
	 PNE Appliance Controls	  3,219	 3,219		  100		  100		 Manufacturers and 
	 Pte Ltd								        dealers in	 electronic and 
												           electrical appliances/
												           Singapore
	
	 PNE Translite Pte Ltd	     783	        783		  100		  100	 Manufacturers of 
												           emergency lighting, 	
													           electrical apparatus, 
												           light fittings and related
												           products/
												           Singapore

	 PNE Electric Sdn Bhd (1)	  9,384	   9,384		  100		  100	 Manufacturer of electronic 
												           and electrical products/
												           Malaysia

	 PNE Systems Sdn Bhd (1)	    500	 500		  100		  100	 Dealers in domestic and 
												           commercial 	electrical 
												           appliances/
												           Malaysia
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12.	 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
 
	 Details of the subsidiaries are as follows:

              			   Proportion of	
					     ownership interest/	 Principal activities/
	 Name of subsidiary	 Cost	 voting power held 	 Country of incorporation
				    2015	 2014	 2015	 2014
				    $’000	 $’000	 %	 %

	 Held by the Company
	 PNE Print Technology		  -	 12,028		  100		  100	 Manufacture and sale of 
	 Co., Ltd (1) (4)									        printing materials and 
												           related products/
												           People’s Republic of 
												           China

	 PNE Electronic Technology	  5,628	  5,628		  100		  100	 Manufacture of electronic 
	 (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd (2)									        and electrical products/
	  											          People’s Republic of 
												           China	

	 PNE International Pte Ltd	       *		        *		  100		  100	 Investment holding/
												           Singapore

	 Da Xi Enterprises Ltd (3)	       *		 *	 	 100		  100	 Trading of electrical and 
												           electronic products/
												           British Virgin Islands

	 Wanli Company Enterprises        	 *	 *	 	 100		  100	 Trading of electrical and 
	 Ltd (3)										        electronic products/
												           British Virgin Islands

					    19,514	 31,542

	 *   Amount less than $1,000

	 Notes:
	 Audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, Singapore except as follows:
	 (1)	 Audited by overseas practices of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited.
	 (2)	 Audited by another firm of auditors, Shenzhen Yida Certified Public Accountants.
	 (3)	 Not required to be audited by law in the country of incorporation. 
	 (4)	 Subsidiary was reclassified to asset held for sale in 2015 (Note 11). 

	 The Group is in compliance with Listing Rules 712 and 715 of the Singapore Exchange Securities 
	 Trading Limited as management is of the view that suitable auditing firms have been appointed to meet 
	 the Group’s audit obligations.

	 Some of the Company’s transactions and arrangements are between members of the Group and related 
	 companies and the effect of these, on the basis determined between the parties, is reflected in these 
	 financial statements.  The balances are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

	 There were no significant restrictions on the Company or its subsidiaries’ ability to access or use the 
	 assets and settle the liabilities of the Group.
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12.	 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
 
	 Significant transactions with subsidiaries:
 
               			   Company 
							       2015	 2014
							       $’000	 $’000

	 Dividend income				    5,000	 5,000
	 Management fee income				    1,596	 1,596

13.	 INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATE 

               			   Group 
							       2015	 2014
							       $’000	 $’000

	 Unquoted equity shares, at cost	      		      	     155	     155

	 Share of post-acquisition accumulated profits,
	    net of dividends received				        504	 471	
	 Currency realignment	    	  	     	     (91)	     (70)

		    			    	    	     568	    556

	
	 Details of the Group’s associate are as follows:

					     Proportion of
              		   	 ownership interest/	 Principal activities/
	 Name of associate	 Cost	 voting power held 	 Country of incorporation

				    2015	 2014	 2015	 2014
				    $’000	 $’000	 %	 %

	 PNE Benelux BV (1)		  155	     155		  50		  50	 Marketing and 
												           engineering services/
		                                      				             				    Netherlands

	 Note:
	 (1)	 No audit is required in the country of incorporation and not material to the Group.
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13.	 INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATE  (continued)

	 Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s associate is set out below:

               			   PNE Benelux 
							       2015	 2014
							       $’000	 $’000

	 Current assets				    1,502	    1,295
	 Non-current assets	      			   70	      96

	 Total assets				    1,572	 1,391
		
	 Current liabilities	    			   (522)	    (375)

	 Net assets	  			    1,050	   1,016

	 Proportion of the Group’s ownership in associate				    50%	 50%

	 Group’s share of associate’s net asset 	    			    525	     508

	 Revenue				    1,797	 16,552
	 Profit (Loss) for the year	     			   309	    (847)

	 Group’s share of associate’s profit (loss) for the year	     		  154	    (343)

14.	AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENT

               			   Group and Company 
							       2015	 2014
							       $’000	 $’000

	 Quoted equity shares, at fair value				    3,086	 3,786    

	 The available-for-sale investment represents 13.9% equity interest in PNE PCB Berhad. 

	 The investment above includes investment in equity instrument securities that offer the Group the 
	 opportunity for return through dividend income and fair value gains. During the financial year, an 
	 impairment loss of $829,000 is charged to other operating expenses in the profit or loss. In 2014, a 
	 fair value loss of $129,000 was recorded in other comprehensive income, which was subsequently 
	 recycled into the profit or loss in 2015 as a result of an impairment in the available-for-sale investment.

	 The fair value of quoted securities was based on the quoted closing prices on the last market day of the 
	 financial year.
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15.	DEFERRED TAX ASSETS (LIABILITIES)	
 
	 Certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been offset in accordance with the Group’s accounting 
	 policy.  The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances:

               			   Group 
							       2015	 2014
							       $’000	 $’000

	 Deferred tax assets	     			   331	    396

	 Deferred tax liabilities	      			   (13)	       (7)

	 The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and assets recognised by the Group and movements 
	 thereon during the year:

								        Tax 
								        over book
							       Accruals	 depreciation	
					     		  $’000	 $’000

	 Group
	 Balance at October 1, 2013				    1,111	 (124)
	 (Charge) Credit to profit or loss for the year				    (707)	 148
	 Foreign exchange differences	      			    (8)	   (31)

	 Balance at September 30, 2014	   			    396	    (7)
	 Charge to profit or loss for the year				    (16)	 (166)
	 Foreign exchange differences	     			   (49)	    160

	 Balance at September 30, 2015	     			   331	    (13)

	 At the end of the reporting period, the aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with 
	 undistributed profits of subsidiaries for which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised 
	 is $13,669,000 (2014 : $11,401,000). No deferred tax liability has been recognised in respect of 
	 these differences because the Group is in a position to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary 
	 differences and it is probable that such differences will not crystallise in the foreseeable future.

16.	TRADE PAYABLES 

               		  Group	 Company 
					     2015	 2014	 2015	 2014
					     $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

	 Outside parties		  10,534	 7,547	 44	 24
	 Related parties (Note 5)	    	  147	    100	  - 	  - 

	 Total			   10,681	 7,647	 44	 24

	 The average credit period on purchases of goods is 30 to 90 days (2014 : 30 to 90 days).  No interest 
	 is charged on outstanding trade payable balances beyond the credit timeframe.
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17.	OTHER PAYABLES 

               		  Group	 Company 
					     2015	 2014	 2015	 2014
					     $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

	 Accrued expenses		  2,346	 2,871	 580	 599
	 Classified as part of a disposal group held 
		  for sale (Note 11)	    	 257	    -    	   -  	   -  

	 Total			   2,603	 2,871	 580	 599

18.	SHARE CAPITAL 

               			   Group and Company	
					     2015	 2014	 2015	 2014
					     ’000	 ’000	 $’000	 $’000
					                Number of ordinary shares

	 Issued and paid-up capital:
	    At the beginning of the year		  335,667	 335,667	 36,991	 36,991

	    At the end of year		  83,917(1)	 335,667	 36,991	 36,991

	 Fully paid ordinary shares, which have no par value, carry one vote per share and carry a right to 
	 dividends.

	 (1)	 On August 6, 2015, a share consolidation exercise was completed such that every four issued shares 
		  were consolidated into one share.

19.	REVENUE 

               			   Group 
							       2015	 2014
							       $’000	 $’000

	 Continuing operations
	 Sale of goods				    74,047	   72,206

	 Discontinued operation
	 Sale of goods				    3,408	 11,783
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20a.OTHER OPERATING INCOME 

               			   Group 
							       2015	 2014
							       $’000	 $’000

	 Continuing operations
	 Gain on disposal of associate				    -    	   9,761
	 Interest income				    162	 91
	 Foreign exchange gain				    3,633	 -     
	 Allowance for inventory obsolescence (net)				    (7)	 -     
	 Write back of doubtful trade receivables				    97	 -     
	 Other income	   			    239	      292

							       4,124	 10,144

	 Discontinued operation
	 Interest income				    4	 3
	 Foreign exchange loss				    (32)	 -     
	 Write back of inventory obsolescence (net)				    138	 -     
	 Write back of doubtful trade receivables				    70	 -     
	 Other income	    			   158	       21

		     					     338	       24

	 Total					     4,462	 10,168

20b.OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES 

               			   Group 
							       2015	 2014
							       $’000	 $’000

	 Continuing operations
	 Impairment loss on available-for-sale investment				    829	 -    
	 Foreign exchange loss				    -  	 311
	 Property, plant and equipment written off 				    4	     9
	 Allowance for inventory obsolescence				    -  	 102
	 Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment			   2	 -    
	 Allowance for doubtful trade receivables	   			   -  	    438

							       835	    860

	 Discontinued operation
	 Foreign exchange loss				    -  	 20
	 Property, plant and equipment written off 				    40	   -    
	 Allowance for inventory obsolescence				    -  	 542
	 Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment			   -  	 2,094
	 Allowance for doubtful trade receivables	  			    -  	 2,185

		   					      40	 4,841

	 Total					     875	 5,701
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21.	 INCOME TAX EXPENSE 

               			   Group 
							       2015	 2014
							       $’000	 $’000

	 Continuing operations 
	 Current tax:
		  Singapore				    1,018	     671
		  Foreign				    574	 530
	 Deferred tax				    148	 (211)
	 (Over) Under provision in prior years:
		  Current tax				    (61)	 227
		  Deferred tax	     			   34	      49
	
							       1,713	 1,266

	 Discontinued operation
	 Current tax				    -    	 208
	 Deferred tax				    -    	 721
	 Under provision of current tax in prior years	    			   -    	     44

							       -	 973

	 Total income tax expense				    1,713	 2,239

	 The income tax expense varied from the amount of income tax expense determined by applying the 
	 Singapore income tax rate of 17% (2014 : 17%) to profit before tax as a result of the following differences:

               			   Group 
							       2015	 2014
							       $’000	 $’000

	 Profit before tax from continuing operations				    11,264	   16,109
	 Loss before tax from discontinued operation	  			   (2,335)	  (5,324)

							         8,929	 10,785

	 Income tax expense at statutory rate				    1,518	 1,833
	 Non-deductible (taxable) items				    58	 (1,617)
	 Effects of different tax rates of overseas operations			   (48)	 (258)
	 Exempt income				    (144)	 (140)
	 Reversal of deferred tax assets (1)				    -     	 669
	 (Over) Under provision of taxes in prior years				    (27)	 320
	 Deferred tax benefits not recognised				    582     	 1,328
	 Others	      			   (226)	      104

	 Net income tax expense recognised in profit or loss	   		  1,713	   2,239

	 - Continuing operations				    1,713	 1,266
	 - Discontinued operation	     			   -     	      973

				      			   1,713	   2,239

	 (1)	 In 2014, management had reassessed and was of the view that deferred tax assets amounting to 
		  $669,000, previously recognised in 2013, was not likely to be recovered due to unpredictability of 
		  future profit streams. Accordingly, this had been reversed in 2014.
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21.	 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

	 No deferred tax benefits has been recognised in the financial statements as the realisation of the 
	 benefits is uncertain due to unpredictability of future profit streams of the subsidiary. In 2015, the 
	 Group has unutilised tax loss of $8,186,000 (2014 : $5,312,000) that will expire in 2020. The use and 
	 expiration of such losses are subject to the agreement of the relevant tax authorities and compliance 
	 with certain provisions of the tax legislation.

22.	PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 

	 In addition to the charges and credits disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, this item includes 
	 the following charges (credits):

               			   Group 
							       2015	 2014
							       $’000	 $’000

	 Continuing operations
	 Directors’ remuneration:
		  Directors of the Company				    1,511	     1,502
		  Directors of subsidiaries				    73	 79
	 Staff costs (including directors’ remuneration)				    14,264	 14,344
	 Cost of defined contribution plans (included in staff costs)			   674	 656
	 Audit fees
		  Paid to auditors of the Company				    158	 155
		  Paid to other auditors				    32	 29	
	 Non-audit fees:
		  Paid to auditors of the Company				    10	 13
		  Paid to other auditors				    6	 6
	 Property, plant and equipment written off				    4	 9
	 Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment			   (22)	 (8)
	 Net foreign exchange (gain) loss				    (3,633)	 311
	 Cost of inventories included in cost of sales				    54,613	 53,869
	 Gain on disposal of associate				    -     	 9,761
	 Depreciation of property, plant and equipment				    821	 842
	 (Write back of) Allowance for doubtful trade receivables			   (97)	 438
	 Allowance for inventory obsolescence				    7	 102
	 Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment			   2	   -     
	 Impairment on available-for-sale investment	     			   829	    -     

	 Discontinued operation
	 Staff costs (including directors’ remuneration)				    948	 1,252
	 Cost of defined contribution plans (included in staff costs)			   43	 113
	 Audit fees
		  Paid to other auditors				    39	 51
	 Property, plant and equipment written off				    40	 -     
	 (Gain) Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment			   (158)	 3
	 Net foreign exchange loss				    32	 20
	 Cost of inventories included in cost of sales				    4,131	 10,599
	 Depreciation of property, plant and equipment				    217	 673
	 (Write back of) Allowance for doubtful trade receivables			   (70)	 2,185
	 (Write back of) Allowance for inventory obsolescence (net)			   (138)	 542
	 Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment	     		  -     	   2,094
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23.	EARNINGS PER SHARE 

	 The calculation of the basic earnings per share attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the 
	 Company is based on the following data:

               			   Group 
							       2015	 2014
							       $’000	 $’000

	 From continuing and discontinued operations
	 Profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the Company	   	 7,216	   8,546

	 Number of fully paid ordinary shares in issue during the year (in ’000)		  83,917	 83,917(1)

	 As there are no dilutive potential ordinary shares issued and/or granted, the fully diluted earnings per 
	 share is the same as the basic earnings per share.

               			   Group 
							       2015	 2014
							       $’000	 $’000

	 From continuing operations
	 Profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the Company	   	 9,551	 14,843

	 Number of fully paid ordinary shares in issue during the year (in ’000)		  83,917 	 83,917(1)

	 The denominators used are the same as those detailed above for both basic and diluted earnings per 
	 share.

	 (1)	 On August 6, 2015, a share consolidation exercise was completed such that every four issued shares 
		  were consolidated into one share. The comparative figures for the earnings per share has been 
		  adjusted assuming that the share consolidation exercise was completed on September 30, 2014.

	 From discontinued operation
	 Basic and diluted loss per share for the discontinued operation is 2.78 cents per share (2014 : loss per 
	 share of 7.50 cents), based on the loss for the year from the discontinued operation of $2,335,000 
	 (2014 : loss for the year of $6,297,000) and the denominators detailed above for both basic and diluted 
	 loss per share.
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24.	OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS 

               			   Group 
							       2015	 2014
							       $’000	 $’000

	 Minimum lease payments under operating leases included in profit or loss	    	 609	    574

	 At the end of the reporting period, outstanding commitments in respect of non-cancellable operating 
	 leases were as follows:

               			   Group 
							       2015	 2014
							       $’000	 $’000

	 Within one year				    614	 679
	 In the second to fifth year inclusive				    1,565	 1,785

	 Total					     2,179	 2,464

	 Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group for certain of its office premises and 
	 office equipment.  Leases are negotiated for an average term of 3 to 6 years and rentals are fixed for 
	 an average of 3 to 6 years.

25.	SEGMENT INFORMATION 

	 (a)	Business segment

		  The Group determines its operating segments based on internal reports about components of the 
		  Group that are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker in order to allocate resources 
		  to the segments and to assess their performance.

		  The Group is organised into business units based on their products on which information is prepared 
		  and reportable to the Group’s chief operating decision maker for the purposes of resources allocation 
		  and assessment of performance.

		  The Group’s reportable segments are therefore contract manufacturing, trading, printed circuit 
		  boards and others, as described below:

		  Contract manufacturing - The products sold include electronic controllers and electronic and 
		  electrical products.

		  Trading - The products sold include emergency lighting equipment and printing materials.

		  Printed circuit boards - The major associate is principally engaged in the manufacture of printed 
		  circuit boards. During 2014, the Group divested the associate.

		  Others - Refer to others which do not fall into the above segments.

		  During the year, the group ceased operations of a major production line attributable to the reportable 
		  segment under trading.
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25.	SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

		  Information regarding the Group’s reporting segments is presented below.

		  (i)	 Segment revenue and results
			 
			   The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by reportable segment:
	
               		  Revenue	 Profit
					     2015	 2014	 2015	 2014
					     $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

			   Continuing operations				  
			   Contract manufacturing		  62,616	 62,215	 8,756	 6,005
			   Trading		  11,431	 9,991	 2,316	 605
			   Printed circuit boards		  -    	    -    	 -    	 (478)
			   Others	    	  -    	     -    	       30	   9,886

			   Total		  74,047	 72,206	 11,102	 16,018
			   Interest income			       	 162	       91

			   Profit before tax				    11,264	 16,109
			   Income tax expense				    (1,713)	 (1,266)

			   Profit for the year from continuing operations		    	 9,551	 14,843

			   Discontinued operation	
			   Trading				    (2,335)	 (6,297)

			   Profit for the year			     	 7,216	   8,546

			   Revenue reported above represents revenue generated from external customers after excluding 
			   all inter-segment sales between contract manufacturing segment and trading segment during the 
			   year amounting to $9,174,000 (2014 : $9,654,000).

			   The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as the Group’s accounting 
			   policies described in Note 2.  Segment profit represents the profit earned by each segment, 
			   before finance costs and income tax expense.  This is the measure reported to the chief operating 
			   decision maker for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment performance.
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25.	SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

		  (ii)	Segment assets and liabilities
 
							       2015	 2014	
							       $’000	 $’000

			   Segment assets
			   Contract manufacturing				    43,277	  41,465
			   Trading				    5,027	 16,775
			   Printed circuit boards				    3,086	 3,786
			   Others	     			   590	     578

			   Total segment assets				    51,980	 62,604
			   Unallocated				    33,419	 19,786

			   Consolidated assets				    85,399	 82,390

			   Segment liabilities
			   Contract manufacturing				    10,567	 8,729
			   Trading				    1,834	 316
			   Others	    			    626	     625

			   Total segment liabilities				    13,027	 9,670
			   Unallocated	   			   1,260	   1,648

			   Consolidated liabilities				    14,287	 11,318

			   All assets are allocated to reportable segments other than cash and bank balances (Note 6), 
			   assets classified as held for sale (Note 11) and deferred tax assets (Note 15). 

			   All liabilities are allocated to reportable segments other than income tax payable, liabilities 
			   associated with assets classified as held for sale (Note 11) and deferred tax liabilities (Note 15).

		  (iii)	Other segment information

					     Depreciation	 Additions to property,	
					     and amortisation	plant and equipment 	 Investment
							       2015	 2014	 2015	 2014	 2015	 2014
							       $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

			   Contract manufacturing		  734	 740	 1,068	 376	 -    	 -    
			   Trading				    304	 775	 55	 240	 -    	 -    
			   Printed circuit boards			   -    	    -    	   -    	   -  	 3,086	 3,786
			   Others	    			   -    	    -    	    -    	   -  	    568	    556
			 
			   Total				    1,038	 1,515	 1,123	 616	 3,654	 4,342

			   In addition to the depreciation and amortisation reported above, impairment loss of $2,000 
			   attributable to the reportable segment under contract manufacturing (2014 : $2,094,000 
			   attributable to the reportable segment under trading), was recognised in respect of property, 
			   plant and equipment in 2015.
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25.	SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

	 (b)	Geographical information

		  The Group’s activities are mainly located in Europe, Malaysia, Singapore, and the People’s Republic 
		  of China.

		  The Group’s revenue is analysed by geographical location of its customers and the analysis on the 
		  carrying amount of non-current assets is based on geographical location of its assets.

						      Revenue from	 Non-current 		
						      external customers 	 assets
									         2015	 2014	 2015	 2014
									         $’000	 $’000	 $’000	 $’000

		  Poland						      21,795	 19,618	 -     	 -     
		  Europe (excluding Poland)					    15,889	 16,149	 568	 556
		  People’s Republic of China					    11,028	 11,358	 519	 2,793
		  Indonesia						      8,171	 11,238	 -     	 -     
		  Malaysia						      8,405	 6,033	 8,990	 10,989	
		  Singapore						      4,745	 4,487	 26	 62	
		  Others	   					     4,014	   3,323	    -     	     -     

									         74,047	 72,206	 10,103	 14,400

	 (c)	Information about major customers

		  Included in revenue arising from contract manufacturing sales to customers is revenue of $36,756,000 
		  (2014 : $42,560,000) which arose from sales to the Group’s two (2014 : two) major group of 
		  customers, each of whom accounted for more than 10% of the Group’s total external revenue.

26.	DISCONTINUED OPERATION

	 In November 2014, PNE Print Technology Co., Ltd (“PNE Print”) ceased manufacturing operations.

	 Accordingly, the operations of PNE Print has been presented as discontinued operation in statement of 
	 profit or loss and other comprehensive income. 

	 The loss for the year from the discontinued operation is analysed as follows:

											           2015	 2014
											           $’000	 $’000

	 Loss from discontinued operation						      (2,335)	  (6,297)

Notes to Financial Statements
for the financial year ended September 30, 2015
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26.	DISCONTINUED OPERATION (continued)

	 The results of the discontinued operation for the year ended September 30, 2015 and September 30, 
	 2014 are as follows:

											           2015	 2014
											           $’000	 $’000

	 Revenue								        3,408	   11,783
	 Cost of sales								        (4,131)	 (10,599)

	 Gross profit								        (723)	 1,184
	 Other operating income							       338	 24
	 Distribution costs								        (165)	 (294)
	 Administrative expenses							       (1,745)	 (1,397)
	 Other operating expenses			     				     (40)	  (4,841)

	 Loss before tax								        (2,335)	 (5,324)
	 Income tax expense			    	   			   -    	    (973)

	 Loss after tax								        (2,335)	  (6,297)

	 The carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities of PNE Print as at September 30, 2015 are disclosed 
	 in Note 11.

27.	DIVIDENDS

	 On February 16, 2015, a one-tier tax exempt dividend of $0.0050 per share (total dividend $1,678,335) 
	 was paid to shareholders in respect of the year ended September 30, 2014 (2014 : $1,342,668 for the 
	 year ended September 30, 2013).

	 In respect of the financial year ended September 30, 2015:

	 (a)	The Company declared and paid a one-tier tax exempt interim dividend of $0.0050 per share totaling 
		  $1,678,335 on June 12, 2015 (2014 : one-tier tax exempt interim dividend of $0.0050 per share 
		  totaling $1,678,335).

	 (b)	The Company declared and paid a one-tier tax exempt special interim dividend of $0.0050 per share 
		  totaling $1,678,335 on June 12, 2015 (2014 : one-tier tax exempt interim dividend of $0.0200 per 
		  share totaling $6,713,341).

	 (c)	Based on the issued shares of the Company after the share consolidation exercise completed on 
		  August 6, 2015 (Note 18), the directors proposed that a one-tier tax exempt dividend of $0.0200 
		  per share be paid to shareholders.  This dividend is subject to the approval of the shareholders at 
		  the Annual General Meeting and has not been included as a liability in these financial statements. 
		  The total estimated dividend to be paid is $1,678,335.

Notes to Financial Statements
for the financial year ended September 30, 2015
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28.	RECLASSIFICATIONS AND COMPARATIVE FIGURES

	 Certain comparative figures have been restated in order to conform with the disclosure requirements of 
	 FRS 105 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations. As a result, certain line items 
	 have been amended in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 
	 and the related notes to the financial statements. 

	 Certain reclassifications have been made to the prior year’s financial statements to enhance 
	 comparability with the current year’s financial statements. As a result, certain line items have been 
	 amended in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and the 
	 related notes to the financial statements.  Comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to the 
	 current year’s presentation.  The items were reclassified as follows:
	
               		  Group
				    As at September 30, 2014	
						      Previously		  As	
						      reported	 Adjustments	 restated
						      2014	 2014	 2014(1)

						      $’000	 $’000	 $’000

	 Consolidated statement of profit or loss
		  and other comprehensive income

	 Other operating income			   10,163	 5	 10,168
	 Administrative expenses			   (10,916)	 326	 (10,590)
	 Other operating expenses	   		   (5,370)	 (331)	  (5,701)

	 (1) These numbers comprised both continuing and discontinued operations.

29.	SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

	 Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the Company incorporated a wholly-owned subsidiary 
	 called Wanxi Holdings Pte Ltd in Singapore, with paid-up share capital of $2.00. The principal activity of 
	 this company is investment holding. 

Notes to Financial Statements
for the financial year ended September 30, 2015
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Statistics of Shareholdings
As at December 11, 2015

Issued share capital	 :	 S$36,991,168		
Number of shares	 : 	 83,916,757		
Voting rights	 : 	 one vote per share

Size of Shareholdings	

		  No. of		  No. of	
Size of Shareholdings	 Shareholders	 Percentage	 Shares Held	 Percentage
					   
1 - 99		 6	 0.48%	 178	 0.00%
100 - 1,000	 302	 24.34%	 155,721	 0.19%
1,001 - 10,000	 645	 51.97%	 2,526,050	 3.01%
10,001 - 1,000,000	 274	 22.08%	 15,427,396	 18.38%
1,000,001 and above	 14	 1.13%	 65,807,412	 78.42%

		  1,241	 100.00%	 83,916,757	 100.00%

Based on information available to the Company as at 11 December 2015, approximately 18.96% of the 
issued ordinary shares of the Company is held by the public  and, therefore, Rule 723 of the Listing Manual 
issued by the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited is complied with.

Top Twenty Shareholders As At 11 December 2015

S/No.	 Name		  No. of Shares	 Percentage

1	 TAN KOON CHWEE				    9,334,875	 11.12%
2	 TAN KONG HENG				    8,829,100	 10.52%
3	 TAN KONG LEONG				    8,614,875	 10.27%
4	 TAN KONG SIN				    7,863,232	 9.37%
5	 ESTATE OF TAN KWANG HUA, DECEASED			   6,384,375	 7.61%
6	 TAN KWONG SOON				    4,709,750	 5.61%
7	 TAN KONG HOCK				    4,596,750	 5.48%
8	 TAN KONG BOON				    3,830,750	 4.56%
9	 TAN KIAN CHYE				    3,830,500	 4.56%
10	 TAN KONG GUAN				    2,520,000	 3.00%
11	 TAN BEE FOON				    1,684,205	 2.01%
12	 CHEW CHOO LING				    1,326,750	 1.58%
13	 TAN KIAN HIE				    1,156,750	 1.38%
14	 CHUA CHENG HWEE RONA (CAI JINGHUI RONA)		  1,125,500	 1.34%
15	 TAN KIM KIM				    984,500	 1.17%
16	 RAFFLES NOMINEES (PTE) LTD				    835,325	 1.00%
17	 TAN JIAN HUI				    741,187	 0.88%
18	 DBS NOMINEES PTE LTD				    629,450	 0.75%
19	 TAN TEE CHING				    622,500	 0.74%
20	 TAN AH EE				    550,000	 0.66%

							       70,170,374	 83.61%
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Statistics of Shareholdings
As at December 11, 2015

Substantial Shareholders as shown in the Register of Substantial Shareholders	

			   No. of Shares	
S/No.	Name of Shareholders			  Direct Interest	 Deemed Interest

1	 Tan Koon Chwee							       9,334,875		  Nil
2	 Tan Kong Leong							       8,614,875		  Nil
3	 Tan Kong Sin							       7,863,232		  Nil
4	 Tan Kong Heng							       8,829,100		  Nil
5	 Estate of Tan Kwang Hua (Deceased)					     6,384,375		  Nil
6	 Tan Kwong Soon							       4,709,750		  Nil
7	 Tan Kong Hock							       4,596,750		  Nil
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Notice of Annual General Meeting
PNE INDUSTRIES LTD (Company Registration No. 199905792R)

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Sixteenth Annual General Meeting of the Company will be held at Orchid 
Country Club, 1 Orchid Club Road, Sapphire 2, Orchid Lodge, Level 2, Singapore 769162 on Thursday, 28 
January 2016 at 9.00 a.m., to transact the following business:

AS ORDINARY BUSINESS

1.	 To receive and adopt the Directors’ Statement and Financial Statements for the year ended 30 September 
	 2015 and the Auditors’ Report thereon.

2.	 To declare a final dividend of S$0.02 (2014: S$0.0050) per ordinary share for the year ended 30 
	 September 2015.

3.	 To approve the Directors’ Fees of S$150,000/- (2014: S$136,000/-) for the year ended 30 September 
	 2015.

4(a).	To re-elect Mr Tan Koon Chwee, the Director retiring pursuant to Article 93 of the Articles of Association 
	 of the Company.

4(b).To re-elect Mr Tan Kwong Soon, the Director retiring pursuant to Article 93 of the Articles of Association 
	 of the Company.

4(c).	To re-elect Mr Tung Chee Weng, the Director retiring pursuant to Article 93 of the Articles of Association 
	 of the Company.

5.	 To re-appoint Messrs Deloitte & Touche LLP as the Company’s Auditors and to authorise the Directors 
	 to fix their remuneration.

AS SPECIAL BUSINESS

To consider and, if thought fit, pass the following Resolution No. 6 as Ordinary Resolution:

6.	 “That pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50, authority be and is hereby given to the 
	 Directors to:

	 (i)	 (aa)	 issue shares in the Company (“Shares”) whether by way of rights, bonus or otherwise; and/or

		  (bb)	make or grant offers, agreements or options (collectively, “Instruments”) that might or would 
			   require Shares to be issued during the continuance of this authority or thereafter, including 
			   but not limited to the creation and issue of (as well as adjustments to) warrants, debentures 
			   or other instruments convertible into Shares,

		  at any time and upon such terms and conditions and for such purposes and to such persons as the 
		  directors may, in their absolute discretion, deem fit; and

	 (ii)	 issue Shares in pursuance of any Instrument made or granted by the directors while such authority 
		  was in force (notwithstanding that such issue of Shares pursuant to the Instruments may occur 
		  after the expiration of the authority contained in this resolution),

	 Provided that:

	 (iii)	 the aggregate number of the Shares to be issued pursuant to such authority (including the Shares 
		  to be issued in pursuance of Instruments made or granted pursuant to such authority), does not 
		  exceed 50% of the total number of issued Shares (as calculated in accordance with paragraph (iv) 
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Notice of Annual General Meeting
PNE INDUSTRIES LTD (Company Registration No. 199905792R)

		  below), and provided further that where shareholders of the Company (“Shareholders”) are not 
		  given the opportunity to participate in the same on a pro-rata basis (“non-pro-rata basis”), then the 
		  Shares to be issued under such circumstances (including the Shares to be issued in pursuance of 
		  Instruments made or granted pursuant to such authority) shall not exceed 20% of the total number 
		  of issued Shares (as calculated in accordance with paragraph (iv) below);

	 (iv)	 (subject to such manner of calculation as may be prescribed by the Singapore Exchange Securities 
		  Trading Limited (the “SGX-ST”)) for the purpose of determining the aggregate number of the Shares 
		  that may be issued under paragraph (iii) above, the total number of issued Shares shall be based 
		  on the total number of issued Shares of the Company (excluding treasury shares) at the time such 
		  authority was conferred, after adjusting for:

		  (aa)	new Shares arising from the conversion or exercise of any convertible securities;

		  (bb)	new Shares arising from exercising share options or the vesting of share awards which are 
			   outstanding or subsisting at the time such authority was conferred; and

		  (cc)	 any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or subdivision of the Shares;

		  and, in relation to an Instrument, the number of Shares shall be taken to be that number as would 
		  have been issued had the rights therein been fully exercised or effected on the date of the making 
		  or granting of the Instrument; and

	 (v)	 (unless revoked or varied by the Company in general meeting), the authority so conferred shall 
		  continue in force until the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the Company or the 
		  date by which the next annual general meeting of the Company is required by law to be held 
		  whichever is the earlier.”

7.	 To transact any other business.

By Order of the Board

TAN MENG SIEW
Company Secretary

Singapore
Date: 8 January 2016
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Notice of Annual General Meeting
PNE INDUSTRIES LTD (Company Registration No. 199905792R)

Note:

A member is entitled to appoint a proxy to attend and vote in his place. A proxy need not be a Member of 
the Company. Members wishing to vote by proxy at the Meeting may use the proxy form enclosed. To be 
valid, the completed proxy form must be lodged at the registered office of the Company at 996 Bendemeer 
Road #07-06, Singapore 339944 not less than 72 hours before the Meeting.

NOTICE OF BOOK CLOSURE
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Share Transfer Books and Register of Members of PNE Industries Ltd 
will be closed at 5.00 p.m. on 5 February 2016 for the preparation of Final Dividend entitlement and shall 
reopen on the following working day.

Duly completed and stamped registrable transfers received by the Company’s Registrar, Intertrust Singapore 
Corporate Services Pte. Ltd., at 3 Anson Road #27-01 Springleaf Tower, Singapore 079909 up to 5.00 p.m. 
5 February 2016 will be registered to determine shareholders’ entitlements to the said dividend. Members 
whose securities accounts with The Central Depository (Pte) Limited are credited with shares at 5.00 p.m. on 
5 February 2016 will be entitled to the proposed dividend.

Payment of the dividend, if approved by the members at the AGM to be held on 28 January 2016, will be 
made on 19 February 2016.

EXPLANATORY NOTE TO RESOLUTION 2:
The final dividend of S$0.0050 per ordinary share for the previous year ended 30 September 2014 was 
before the issued shares of the Company were consolidated on 6 August 2015, whereby every four issued 
shares were consolidated into one share.

EXPLANATORY NOTE TO RESOLUTION 4(a):
Mr. Tan Koon Chwee is the Managing Director of the Company.  He will, upon re-election, continue to serve 
as the Managing Director of the Company.

EXPLANATORY NOTE TO RESOLUTION 4(b):
Mr. Tan Kwong Soon is the non-executive Director of the Company and a member of the Audit Committee. 
He will, upon re-election, continue to serve as member of the Audit Committee.

EXPLANATORY NOTE TO RESOLUTION 4(c):
Mr. Tung Chee Weng is an Independent Director. He is the Chairman of the Audit and Remuneration 
Committees and a member of the Nominating Committee.  He will, upon re-election, continue to serve as 
Chairman of the Audit and Remuneration Committees and also as a member of the Nominating Committee.

EXPLANATORY NOTES ON SPECIAL BUSINESS TO BE TRANSACTED:
The ordinary resolution proposed in item (6) above if passed will empower the Directors of the 
Company from the date of the above Meeting to issue shares in the Company up to an amount not 
exceeding in total 50% of the total number of issued shares in the capital of the Company with a sub-
limit of 20% other than on a pro-rata basis to shareholders for the time being for such purposes 
as they consider would be in the interests of the Company. This authority will, unless previously 
revoked or varied at a general meeting, expire at the next Annual General Meeting of the Company.

PERSONAL DATA PRIVACY:
By submitting an instrument appointing a proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) to attend, speak and vote 
at the Annual General Meeting and/or any adjournment thereof, a member of the Company (i) consents 
to the collection, use and disclosure of the member’s personal data by the Company (or its agents) for 
the purpose of the preparation and compilation of the attendance lists, minutes and other documents 
relating to the Annual General Meeting (including any adjournment thereof), and in order for the 
Company (or its agents) to comply with any applicable laws, listing rules, regulations and/or guidelines 
(collectively, the “Purposes”), (ii) warrants that where the member discloses the personal data of the 
member’s proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) to the Company (or its agents), the member has obtained 
the prior consent of such proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) for the collection, use and disclosure by 
the Company (or its agents) of the personal data of the member’s proxy(ies) and/or representative(s) for 
the Purposes, and (iii) agrees that the member will indemnify the Company in respect of any penalties, 
liabilities, claims, demands, losses and damages as a result of the member’s breach of warranty.
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Proxy Form

PNE INDUSTRIES LTD
Company registration no. 199905792R
(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)

IMPORTANT

1.	 For investors who have used their CPF moneys to buy shares of PNE Industries Ltd, this Annual Report is forwarded to them at the 

	 request of their CPF Approved Nominees and is sent solely FOR INFORMATION ONLY.

2.	 This Proxy Form is not valid for use by CPF Investors and shall be ineffective for all intents and purposes if used or purported to be 

	 used by them.

3.	 CPF Investors who wish to vote should contact their CPF Approved Nominees.

I/We								        NRIC / Passport No.			 
of (address) 

being a *member/members of PNE Industries Ltd, hereby appoint

	 Name	 Address	 NRIC/Passport	 Proportion of
			   Number	 Shareholdings (%)

and/or (delete as appropriate)

or failing him/her, the Chairman of the Meeting as my/our proxy/proxies to vote for me/us on my/our 
behalf at the Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held on Thursday, 28 January 2016 at 9.00 a.m., 
and at any adjournment thereof.

The proxy is required to vote as indicated with an “X” on the resolutions set out in the Notice of Meeting and 
summarised below.  If no specific direction as to voting is given, the proxy/proxies may vote or abstain at 
his discretion.

	 No.	 Resolution	 For	 Against

	 1.	 To receive and adopt the Directors’ Statement and Financial Statements for the year 
		  ended 30 September 2015.

	 2.	 To declare a final dividend of S$0.02 (2014: S$0.0050) per ordinary share for the 
		  year ended 30 September 2015.

	 3.	 To approve the Directors’ Fees of S$150,000/- (2014: S$136,000/-) for the year 
		  ended 30 September 2015.

	 4(a).	 To re-elect Mr Tan Koon Chwee, the Director retiring pursuant to Article 93 of
		  the Articles of Association of the Company. 

	 4(b).	 To re-elect Mr Tan Kwong Soon, the Director retiring pursuant to Article 93 of 
		  the Articles of Association of the Company.

	 4(c).	 To re-elect Mr Tung Chee Weng, the Director retiring pursuant to Article 93 of 
		  the Articles of Association of the Company.

	 5.	 Re-appointment of Messrs Deloitte & Touche LLP as the Company’s Auditors.

	 6.	 Approval of the ordinary resolution pursuant to Section 161 of the 
		  Companies Act, Cap. 50.

Signed this	        day of                          2016.					             

											              Total Number of Shares

Signature(s) of Member(s)/ Common Seal
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FOLD THIS FLAP FOR SEALING

Proxy Form

The Company Secretary

PNE Industries Ltd

996 Bendemeer Road #07-06

Singapore 339944

2ND FOLD HERE

3RD FOLD HERE

Notes:
a)	 A member entitled to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting is entitled to appoint no more than two proxies to attend and vote 
	 on his behalf and such proxy need not be a member of the Company. Where a member appoints two proxies, the appointments shall 
	 be invalid unless he specifies the proportion (expressed as a percentage of the whole) of his shareholding to be represented by each 
	 proxy.

b)	 A member of the Company which is a corporation is entitled to appoint its authorised representative or proxy by resolution of its 
	 directors or other governing body such person as it thinks fit to vote on its behalf.

c)	 The instrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing under the hand of the appointor or of his attorney duly authorised in writing or 
	 if such appointor is a corporation under its common seal or under the hand of its attorney.

d)	 Where an instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is signed on behalf of the appointor by an attorney, the letter or power of attorney 
	 or a duly certified copy thereof must (failing previous registration with the Company) be lodged with the instrument of proxy, failing 
	 which the instrument may be treated as invalid.

e)	 An instrument appointing a proxy must be deposited at the registered office of the Company, 996 Bendemeer Road #07-06, Singapore 
	 339944 not less than 72 hours before the time appointed for holding the meeting.

f)	 The Company shall be entitled to reject a Proxy Form which is incomplete, improperly completed, illegible or where the true intentions 
	 of the appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointor specified on the Proxy Form. In addition, in the case of 
	 shares entered in the Depository Register, the Company may reject a Proxy Form if the member, being the appointor, is not shown 
	 to have shares entered against his name in the Depository Register as at 72 hours before the time appointed for holding the Meeting, 
	 as certified by The Central Depository (Pte) Limited to the Company.



Errata to Annual Report for Financial Year ended 30 September 2015 (“2015 
Annual Report”)

With reference to the 2015 Annual Report, please be informed that the following parts are by this 
Errata amended and taken to be read as shown herein instead of as printed in the 2015 Annual 
Report.  The amendments made are highlighted in bold.

1.	 Note in Notice of Annual General Meeting on page 70 of the 2015 Annual Report should read 
	 as follows:

	 A member is entitled to appoint a proxy to attend and vote in his place.  A proxy need not 
	 be a Member of the Company.  Members wishing to vote by proxy at the Meeting may use 
	 the proxy form enclosed.  To be valid, the completed proxy form must be lodged at the 
	 registered office of the Company at 996 Bendemeer Road #07-06, Singapore 339944 not 
	 less than 48 hours before the Meeting.

2.	 Note (e) on reverse page of Proxy Form on page 72 of the 2015 Annual Report should 
	 read as follows:

	 An instrument appointing a proxy must be deposited at the registered office of the 
	 Company, 996 Bendemeer Road #07-06, Singapore 339944 not less than 48 hours before 
	 the time appointed for holding the meeting.

3.	 Note (f) on reverse page of Proxy Form on page 72 of the 2015 Annual Report should read 
	 as follows:

	 The Company shall be entitled to reject a Proxy Form which is incomplete, improperly 
	 completed, illegible or where the true intentions of the appointor are not ascertainable 
	 from the instructions of the appointor specified on the Proxy Form. In addition, in the 
	 case of shares entered in the Depository Register, the Company may reject a Proxy Form 
	 if the member, being the appointor, is not shown to have shares entered against his name 
	 in the Depository Register as at 48 hours before the time appointed for holding the 
	 Meeting, as certified by The Central Depository (Pte) Limited to the Company.

All other information in the 2015 Annual Report remains unchanged.

8 January 2016

PNE Industries Ltd
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